CHANGES IN ROOT MORPHOLOGY AND NUTRIENT UPTAKE IN WHEAT PLANTS WITH VARIED POTASSIUM AND MAGNESIUM SUPPLY

by

CEVZA ESİN TUNÇ

Submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering and Natural Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biological Sciences and Bioengineering

Sabancı University

August 2017

CHANGES IN ROOT MORPHOLOGY AND NUTRIENT UPTAKE IN WHEAT PLANTS WITH VARIED POTASSIUM AND MAGNESIUM SUPPLY

APPROVED BY:





DATE OF APPROVAL: 16/08/2017

© Cevza Esin Tunç 2017 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

CHANGES IN ROOT MORPHOLOGY AND NUTRIENT UPTAKE IN WHEAT PLANTS WITH VARIED POTASSIUM AND MAGNESIUM SUPPLY

CEVZA ESİN TUNÇ

Molecular Biology, Genetics and Bioengineering, MSc Thesis, August 2017 Supervised by: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Levent Öztürk

Keywords: potassium, magnesium, root morphology, nutrient use efficiency, wheat

Mineral nutrient deficiencies on agricultural soils is a widespread problem affecting crop productivity worldwide. This study was conducted to investigate the effects of potassium (K) and magnesium (Mg) supply on biomass production, root morphology and uptake of other mineral nutrients in wheat (Triticum aestivum cv. Ceyhan-99). Changes in root morphology as well as nutrient uptake by roots were monitored under various K and Mg treatments. Results showed that K and Mg deficiency significantly reduced shoot and root growth and induced changes in nutrient uptake by roots. K deficiency reduced nitrate (NO₃⁻) and phosphorus (P), but increased Mg uptake by roots. In general, all root morphological attributes analyzed were significantly affected by low K and Mg supply. However, root length, root area, root volume and number of tips were the most affected attributes which lead to severe reductions in nutrient acquisition and use efficiency. Moreover, K deficiency resulted in impaired use of absorbed nitrogen (N) in protein biosynthesis. Total free amino acid concentration increased sharply in response to K starvation and resulted in severe inhibition of N uptake by roots due to the negative feedback effect. It is concluded that ensuring adequate K and Mg nutrition is required to maximize agricultural production and to improve use efficiency of nutrients applied to agricultural lands.

ÖZET

FARKLI POTASYUM VE MAGNEZYUM KONSANTRASYONLARINDA YETİŞTİRİLEN BUĞDAY BİTKİLERİNİN KÖK MORFOLOJİSİ VE BESİN ABSORPSİYONUNDA MEYDANA GELEN DEĞİŞİKLİKLER

CEVZA ESİN TUNÇ

Moleküler Biyoloji, Genetik ve Biyomühendislik, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Ağustos 2017 Tez Danışmanı: Doç. Dr. Levent Öztürk

Anahtar kelimeler: potasyum, magnezyum, kök morfolojisi, besin kullanım verimliliği

Tarım topraklarında besin elementi eksikliği, verimi olumsuz yönde etkileyen yaygın bir problem haline gelmiştir. Bu çalışma, potasyum (K) ve magnezyum (Mg) eksikliğinin buğday (Triticum aestivum cv. Ceyhan-99) bitkilerinin biyokütle, kök morfolojisi ve diğer besin elementlerinin absorpsiyonu üzerindeki etkilerini araştırmak amacıyla yürütülmüştür. Sonuçlar, K ve Mg eksikliğinin yeşil aksam ve kök büyümesini önemli derecede azalttığını ve besin elementlerinin absorpsiyonlarında değişikliklere yol açtığını göstermektedir. Potasyum eksikliği, kök nitrat (NO₃) ve fosfor (P) alımını azaltırken, Mg alımını artırmıştır. İncelenen tüm kök parametreleri K ve Mg eksikliğinden ciddi derecede etkilenmiştir. Ancak, kök uzunluğu, kök alanı, kök hacmi ve kök ucu sayısı en çok etkilenen parametreler arasındadır ve besin elementlerinin absorpsiyonu ve kullanım verimliliğini önemli derecede azaltmıştır. Ayrıca, K eksikliğinde yetiştirilen bitkiler, kökten alınan azotu (N) protein biyosentezinde başarılı bir şekilde kullanamamıştır. Bu bitkilerde serbest amino asit konsantrasyonu artmıştır ve bu, negatif geri bildirim etkisiyle köklerden N alımını ciddi derecede azaltmıştır. Sonuçlar, yeterli K ve Mg beslenmesinin hem tarımsal verimi hem de besin elementlerinin bitkiler tarafından kullanılabilirliliğini artırmak için gerekli olduğunu göstermektedir.

This work is dedicated

to my family, **Kaan**, **İclal** and **Sinan**. Their endless love has brought me this far.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my thesis supervisor Dr. Levent Öztürk for his precious guidance and endless support throughout my Master studies. Him being this encouraging and understanding kept my motivation high during my studies.

I am grateful to Prof. Dr. İsmail Çakmak for being the most inspirational instuctor and guide. I appreciate his contributions to my MSc study as well as his support over the last two years.

I am very grateful to my former supervisor and thesis committee member Prof. Dr. Uğur Sezerman for his teachings throughout my undergraduate studies. Without him, I would not have come to the point where I stand.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Yasemin Ceylan Şen and Muhammad Asif for their invaluable friendship and contributions. It was your friendship that turned my workspace into a better place. I am very thankful for your endless support and help.

I would like to thank all of the members of Plant Physiology Lab, especially Dr. Atilla Yazıcı for his invaluable teachings and guidance, Yusuf Tutuş for his joy and assistance and Sinem Tutuş for her precious friendship.

Finally, my deepest appreciation goes to my family for being always supportive and encouraging. I owe everything to you..

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	INTRODUCTION	1
	A.1. General Introduction	1
	A.2. Potassium: Physiological Roles and Deficiency-Related Problems in Plants	2
	A.3. Magnesium: Physiological Roles and Deficiency-Related Problems in Plants .	4
	A.4. Nutrient Use Efficiency	5
	A.5. Morphology and Functions of Plant Roots as Affecte by Potassium and	
	Magnesium Deficiency	8
	A.6. Scope	9
B.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	10
	B.1. Seed Material & Germination	10
	B.2. Experimental Design	10
	B.2.1. Potassium Nutrition and Root Morphology	10
	B.2.2. Magnesium Nutrition and Root Morphology	11
	B.2.3. Potassium Resupply on Deficient Plants	12
	B.2.4. Effect of Varied Potassium Nutrition on Uptake of Other Elements	13
	B.3. Digestion and Element Analysis	13
	B.3.1. Closed-vessel digestion	13
	B.3.2. Open-vessel digestion	14
	B.4. Analysis of Plant Root Systems	14
	B.5. Determination of Nitrate Concentration	14
	B.6. Determination of Total Free Amino Acids	15
	B.7. Determination of Water-soluble Carbohydrates	15
	B.8.Statistical Analysis	16
C.	RESULTS	17
	C.1. Potassium Nutrition and Root Morphology	17
	C.2. Magnesium Nutrition and Root Morphology	25
	C.3. Potassium Resupply on Deficient Plants	32
	C.4. Effect of Varied Potassium Nutrition on Uptake of Other Elements	39
D.	DISCUSSION	47

E.	CONCLUSION	53
F.	REFERENCES	54

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1.1: Shoot and root K concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply ...24

Table 1.1.2: Shoot and root Mg concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply ...25

Table 1.2.1: Shoot and root Mg concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply .32

Table 1.2.2: Shoot and root K concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply .33

Table 1.3.2: Effect of K resupply on shoot and root K concentration (A) and contents (B) 12-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours40

Table 2.3: K, Mg, P and S concentrations (A) and contents (B) in shoots and roots of 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply44

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ADP	adenosine diphosphate
Al	aluminium
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
С	carbon
Са	calcium
са	circa
Ca(H2PO4)2	calcium dihydrogenphosphate monohydrate
Ca(NO ₃)2.4H2O	calcium nitrate tetrahydrate
CaCl ₂	calcium chloride
CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ O	calcium chloride dihydrate
CaSO4	calcium sulphate
CaSO4.2H2O	calcium sulfate dihydrate
cm	centimeter
cm ²	square centimeter
cm ³	cubic centimeter
Cu	copper
CuSO ₄ .5H ₂ O	copper sulfate pentahydrate
cv	cultivar
DAS	days after sowing
DAT	days after transfer
DW	dry weight
FAO	food and agriculture organization
Fe-EDTA	iron ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
g	gram
h	hour
H ⁺ /ATPase	proton ATPase
H2O2	hydrogen peroxide
H ₂ SO ₄	
H3BO3	boric acid

HNO3	nitric acid
HSD	honestly significant test
i.e	id est
ICP-OES	inductively-coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy
К	potassium
K2SO4	
KCl	
kg	kilogram
KH2PO4	potassium dihydrogen phosphate
L	liter
m	meter
Mg-ATP	magnesium bound ATP
mg	miligram
Mg	magnesium
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	magnesium sulfate heptahydrate
ml	mililiter
mM	milimolar
MnSO4.4H2O	manganase sulfate tetrahydrate
ΜΩ	mega-ohm
NaOH	sodium hydroxide
NH4	ammonium
(NH4)6M07O24.4H2O	ammonium heptamolybdate (paramolybdate) tetrahydrate
NiCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	nickel chloride hexahydrate
nm	nanometer
NO3	nitrate
NR	
NRA	nitrate reductase activity
NUE	nitrogen use efficiency
O2	
Р	phosphorus
PEP	phesphoenolpyruvate
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RuBP	ribulose bisphosphate
S	second

S	sulfur
ZnSO4.7H2O	zinc sulfate heptahydrate
μg	microgram
μΙ	microliter
μΜ	micromolar
μmol	micro mol
°C	degrees celcius

(A) INTRODUCTION

A.1. General Introduction

A great concern of today is the rapidly expanding world population. It is projected that the world population will exceed nine billion by the year 2050. It is therefore of vital importance to provide enough food for the expanding human population. In order to meet the increasing food demand, a massive increase in agricultural crop production is necessary. However, many factors constrain the agricultural productivity in terms of quality and quantity. Mineral element deficiencies in agricultural soils is one of these major limiting factors and this MSc thesis will mainly focus on the physiological consequences of potassium (K) and magnesium (Mg) deficiency in wheat as a model crop.

Both K and Mg are of great significance due to their key roles in physiological and biochemical processes that affect plant growth and development. The depletion of these nutrients is a growing concern. A considerable area of agricultural land has been reported to be K-deficient and soil K balance declines dramatically with time (Dobermann et al., 1999; Hoa et al., 2006; Andrist-Rangel et al., 2007; Krauss, 2003). The major sources of K and Mg depletion are removal by crop plants, leaching losses and soil erosion (Fageria, 2009). Unfavorable soil structure (sandy soil) with low cation exchange capacity (CEC) and depletion zones around the rhizosphere may induce K deficiency (Kayser and Isselstein, 2005; Moody and Bell, 2006; Andrist-Rangel et al., 2007). Mg deficiency is of great concern on soils fertilized only with nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and K, as well as on acidic soils due to its potential for leaching and interaction with Al₃₊ (Cakmak and Yazici, 2010). In addition, increased application or high levels of soil K or Ca can also lead to Mg deficiency (Fageria, 2009).

A.2. Potassium: Physiological Roles and Deficiency-Related Problems in Plants

K is an essential macronutrient that is required for the plant metabolism, growth and development. K is a univalent cation and found most abundantly in the cytosol. Next to nitrogen (N), K is the element that is required in the largest amounts by plants: about 2%-5% of total plant dry matter (Marschner, 1995). K plays key roles in numerous physiological functions, including enzyme activation, photosynthesis, osmoregulation, protein synthesis, cation-anion balance, stress resistance and phloem transport. K deficiency results in reduced shoot and root growth and yield.

K balances the charge of soluble and insoluble anions in the cytosol and chloroplasts, and thus maintains the pH in these compartments between 7 and 8 (Marschner, 2012). This range is the optimum for most enzyme reactions. According to Suelter (1970), most of the enzymes are either activated or stimulated by K⁺. K⁺ induces conformational changes in proteins, thus activating them. These K⁺-induced changes increase the rate of catalytic reactions and also the substrate-affinity (Evans and Wildes, 1971). Under K deficiency, the enzyme activation may be inhibited and this phenomenon is attributed to the inability to maintain the optimum pH in the cytosol. Pyruvate kinase, phosphofructokinase, starch synthase, proton-pumping ATPases and vacuolar pyrophosphatase isoforms are enzymes that are sensitive to K deprivation (Laeuchli and Pflüger, 1978; Nitsons and Evans, 1969; Gibrat et al., 1990; Darley et al., 1998).

K-deficiency-induced changes in enzyme activities mostly lead to imbalances in the carbon and nitrogen metabolism. The concentration of soluble carbohydrates and soluble organic N compounds, especially N-rich amino acids, increase under K deprivation, whereas the concentrations of nitrate tend to increase in K-deficient plant tissues (Armengaud et al., 2009). These impairments are also related to the role of K in protein synthesis.

Photosynthesis is also affected by K nutritional status. It is well documented that K plays a crucial role in the maintenance of turgor pressure and thus regulating the stomatal function. Apart from these, K is known to regulate ribulose bisphophate (RuBP) carboxylase activation (Peoples and Koch, 1979). K deficiency leads to significant reductions in photosynthesis rate, RuBP- carboxylase activity and photorespiration, whereas stomatal resistance and dark respiration rates increase under K deprivation. The reduction in photosynthesis is mostly attributed to stomatal limitations (Oosterhuis et al., 2013), however researchers have also reported the inhibition of photosynthesis may also ocur due to accumulation of photoassimilates and reduced translocation into sink organs (Pflüger and Cassier, 1977; Pier and Berkowitz, 1987; Kanai et al., 2007).

Translocation of carbon and nitrogen compounds from source to sink organs are highly dependent on transpiration rates, which is also regulated by K nutritional status. Adequate K nutrition is essential for optimum translocation of photoassimilates, amino acids and nitrate. K is known to influence the rate of phloem loading and assimilate partitioning. K deprivation leads to reduced assimilate transport to roots and eventually root growth of K-deficient plants is inhibited (Cakmak, 1994; Cakmak et al., 1994b).

 K^+ plays a crucial role in cation-anion balance in the cytoplasm, chloroplasts, vacuoles, xylem and also phloem. K^+ serves as the dominant cation for counterbalancing immobile or mobile anions (Marschner, 2012). For example, K^+ serves as the accompanying counterion for NO₃⁻ in long-distance transport in the xylem.

Apart from its physiological roles, K is also known to increase biotic (Prabhu et al., 2007) and abiotic stress tolerance in plants (Cakmak, 2005). K-deficient plants are more susceptible to high-light intensity (Marschner and Cakmak, 1989), low temperature (Grewal and Singh, 1980), drought (Sen Gupta et al., 1989) and also pest invasion (Amtmann et al., 2008). Therefore, adequate K nutrition is essential to withstand such stress factors.

A.3. Magnesium: Physiological Roles and Deficiency-Related Problems

Mg is a macronutrient that is essential for normal plant growth and development and plays key roles in physiological and biochemical processes. Mg²⁺ is a divalent cation and has an undispensable role in enzyme activation, phosphorylation, protein and chlorophyll biosynhtesis, photosynthesis and carbohydrate partitioning (Marschner, 2012). Along with K, Mg is also involved

in cation-anion balance in cells as well as in maintaining cell turgor (Marschner, 2012; Gerendas and Führs, 2013).

The most obvious visible symptom of Mg deficiency is interveinal chlorosis of older leaves due to impairments in the chlorophyll biosynthesis. Mg serves as the central atom in the chlorophyll and its biosynthesis requires the presence of Mg (Walker and Weinstein, 1991; Kobayashi et al., 2008). Protein biosynthesis is also terminated under Mg deficiency due to its key role in the aggregation of ribosome subunits (Cammarano et al., 1972). Likewise, nucleic acid biosynthesis and functions have been reported to be affected by Mg status of the plant (Galling, 1963; Sreedhara and Cowan, 2012).

The activity of many enzymes such as glutathione synthase, phesphoenolpyruvate (PEP) carboxylase, RuBP carboxylase, glutamine synthase and fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase either require Mg or is enhanced by its presence (Marschner, 2012; Gerhardt et al., 1987; O'Neal and Joy, 1974; Pierce, 1986). The phosphorylation of adenosine-diphosphate (ADP) and the synthesis of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) are also absolutely Mg-dependent processes.

The presence of Mg affects carbohydrate metabolism within the plant. Mg-deficient leaves typically accumulate carbohydrates as a result of inhibited phloem export and low rates of phloem export into sink organs lead to reduced root growth (Cakmak et al., 1994a). Impairments in phloem-loading from source to sink organs under Mg-deficiency are mostly attributed to the critical role of Mg^{2+} for the activity of proton-pumping ATPase (H⁺-ATPase) (Williams and Hall, 1987). As a result of accumulation of photoassimilates in the source leaves, RuBP oxygenase activity, and thus the generation of reactive oxygen species are favoured (Cakmak and Kirkby, 2008). Increased activity of superoxide radical (O₂⁻) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) scavenging enzymes (i.e., superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase and glutathione reductase) and increased concentrations of antioxidants have been reported in the Mg-deficient leaves (Cakmak and Marschner, 1992). Due to this oxidative stress, Mg-deficient leaves are more susceptible to high light and increasing light intensity contributes to the severity of chlorosis and/or necrosis.

Both the dependency of photosynthethic enzymes on the presence of Mg and the accumulation sugars in the leaves lead to the inhibition of photosynthesis

under Mg deficiency (Laing et al., 2000; Hermans et al., 2004; Wingler and Roitsch, 2008). Peaslee and Moss (1966) reported that inhibition of chlorophyll biosynthesis under Mg deficiency may be another reason for the reduced photosynthesis rate.

Along with the carbon metabolism, N metabolism is also affected by Mg status. Due to its role in protein synthesis, Mg deficiency leads to accumulation of non-protein N, mainly amino acids, and lower concentrations of protein N (Marschner, 2012). In addition, some enzymes of N metabolism (nitrogen reductase, glutamate synthase, glutamate dehydrogenase, urease) have been reported to be inhibited in spinach under Mg deficiency (Yin et al., 2009).

Mg has also a crucial role in mitigating heavy metal toxicities. For example, Cu^{2+} phytotoxicity has been reported to be alleviated by high Mg²⁺ treatment in wheat (Luo et al., 2008), barley (Lock et al., 2007), cowpea (Kopittke et al., 2011) and grapevine (Chen et al., 2013). Likewise, adequate Mg nutrition was found to be able to mitigate Al³⁺ toxicity by a number of different pathways in soybean (Silva et al., 2001) and wheat plants (Kinraide et al., 2004).

A.4. Nutrient Use Efficiency

Food production increases annually due to expanding World population and demand. Increasing food production requires higher energy inputs. Fertilizers are one of the means of increasing grain yield of crop plants. However, both the production and the use of commercially available fertilizers are expensive due to high costs of energy and raw materials (White and Brown, 2010).

In many agricultural systems, a huge proportion of the applied fertilizer is lost from the soil due to various factors such as soil leaching, erosion, denitrification and volatilization (Xu et al., 2012) and consequently, cannot be used by crop plants. For example, only 40% of the applied N fertilizer is taken up and utilized by plants. In addition, the use of inorganic fertilizers also threatens the sustainability of the environment. Synthesis of N fertilizers has been reported to contribute to the production of greenhouse gases (Galloway et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2008). It was also reported that the use of N and P fertilizers is one of the major contributors to eutrophication process in waters (Conley et al., 2009; White and Hammond, 2009). In order to reduce fertilizer costs and preserve the environment, the use efficiency of applied fertilizers has to be maximized due to above-mentioned commercial and environmental reasons.

Nutrient use efficiency refers to the ability of a plant to acquire nutrients and successfully utilize them within itself (Blair, 1993). Studying and understanding nutrient use efficiency is of great importance since it can contribute to a sustanaible and productive agriculture (Masclaux-Daubresse, 2010) by reducing fertilizer input costs, enhancing crop yields and decreasing the rate of nutrient losses (Baligar et al., 2001).

Plant genetic, morphological and physiological traits and many external factors affect nutrient use efficiency in plants. Nutrient use efficiency may vary withing different species, cultivars and genotypes (Baligar and Duncan, 1990; Baligar et al., 2001; Clark, 1984; Gerloff and Gabelman, 1983) Physiological features such as shoot yield, harvest index and root architecture also control nutrient use efficiency. External factors include soil temperature, soil pH, soil moisture, climatic conditions, the source, rate and time of fertilizers (Baligar and Bennett, 1986a, 1986b; Baligar and Fageria, 1997; Duncan, 1994; Fageria, 1992).

There are numerous approaches to improve nutrient use efficiency of plants including breeding for root systems that are more efficient in nutrient acquisition (Coque et al., 2008), overexpression of transporters that facilitate the acquisiton and translocation of nutrients, enhancing cellular pH balance, manipulating key genes of nutrient metabolism by molecular breeding (Xu et al., 2012). In addition to these approaches, a balanced mineral fertilization supplied at the right time and rate for the crop in practice. Mineral elements can affect root uptake of other nutrients and their utilization within the plant (Marschner, 2012). The phenomena of antagonism and synergism have been reported between mineral nutrients. Some ions may compete for transport into root cells, whereas some may promote the uptake of another.

K may affect the uptake, assimilation and utilization of other nutrients. Antagonistic interactions of K^+ with Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} have been reported (Johnson et al., 1968; Dibb and Thompson, 1985). Excess applications of K often induces Mg or Ca deficiency by depressing their root uptake and accumulation in shoots. K^+ is a monovalent cation and competes with other cations for their binding sites (Marschner, 2012). Resultingly, the uptake of other cations may be inhibited.

Positive interaction of K with N and P has also been reported. Studies showed that efficient use of N and P fertilizers requires high soil K (Dibb and Thompson, 1985; Fageria et al., 1997a, 1997b). The form of N (ammonium: NH4⁺ or nitrate: NO_3^{-}) determines its interaction with K. High concentrations of NH4⁺ inhibits the uptake of K⁺ (Marschner, 2012), but the rate of K applied does not affect NH4+-uptake (Mengel et al., 1976; Rufty et al, 1982a; Shaviv et al., 1987). In case of NO_3^{-} , N root uptake and shoot transport are enhanced by the presence of K⁺ (Minotti et al., 1968; Blevins et al., 1978; Ivashikina and Feyziev, 1998) and studies have proved the existence of a close relationship between K⁺ and NO₃⁻ uptake by roots (Rufty et al., 1981; Ashley and Goodson, 1972).

The root uptake of K^+ and NO_3^- is facilitated by the synergism of these two counter-ions. K^+ also plays a key role in the distribution of NO_3^- between shoot and root (Ruiz and Romero, 2002) by serving as an accompanying cation in the xylem (Blevins et al., 1978a, 1978b; Dong et al., 2004). K^+ is the most abundant cation in plant cells and contributes to anion-balance. Siebrecht and Tischner (1999) have shown that the withdrawal of K supply from the environment directly decreases the nitrate concentration in the xylem.

Apart from its role in acquisition and translocation of N, K⁺ is also required for efficient N assimilation (Drosdoff et al., 1947; Wang et al., 2012). Armengaud et al. (2009) reported impairments in NO₃⁻ assimilation and protein synthesis under K deprivation. Nitrate reductase (NR) catalyzes the reduction of nitrate to nitrite and this reaction is the rate-limiting step in the NO₃⁻ assimilation pathway (Beevers and Hageman, 1969). The activity of NR (NRA) is enhanced with increasing K supply (Armengaud et al., 2004; Beevers and Hageman, 1969; Blevins et al., 1978; Li et al., 2011) and K starvation significantly reduces NRA. Proteins are principle products of NO₃⁻ assimilation. K deficiency is correlated

with high protease and peptidase activity and protein degradation (Hu et al., 2016) and as a result, a higher ratio of free amino acids to protein is observed. Amino acid export in phloem was also decreased under K starvation. Impairments in the protein metabolism directly affects the uptake and utilization of N.

Due to its important role in acquisition, transport and assimilation of N, mineral fertilization with K can increase N use efficiency (NUE) of crop plants. Previous research has showed that increased K supply is required for a better response to increased N fertilization (Better Crops, 1998; Webb, 2009).

Interactions of Mg with other nutrients have also been reported by researchers. As mentioned above, high concentrations of K^+ inhibit Mg uptake from roots and its translocation to shoots (Ohno and Grunes, 1985; Huang et al., 1990). For example, excess application of K resulted in decreased shoot Mg concentration in wheat (Ohno and Grunes, 1985), sorghum (Ologunde and Sorensen, 1982) and tall fescue (Hannaway et al., 1982). However, there is no effect of Mg supply on K⁺ uptake.

Interactions of Mg^{2+} with Ca^{2+} were studied in tomato (Schwartz and Bar-Yosef, 1983), rice (Fageria et al., 1983), cassava, sunflower and maize (Spear et al., 1978) and in all of the studies it was concluded that Ca^{2+} suppresses Mg^{2+} uptake by decreasing Mg^{2+} transport capacity of roots or by competing for Mg^{2+} -absorption sites.

Positive interactions of N and P with Mg were reported (Wilkinson et al., 2000). NO_3^{-1} fertilization promotes Mg uptake due to cation-anion balance. In addition, due to its role in RNA and protein synthesis (Marschner, 2012), NO_3^{-1} uptake may be down-regulated in the absence of Mg. Aluminium-tolerance is attributed to greater uptake of Mg in potato, corn and wheat (Foy, 1984; Ali, 1973). Mg can either compete with Al^{3+} for absorption sites, thus reducing the Al^{3+} -root contact, or decrease the Al^{3+} -activity (Foy, 1984).

A.5. Morphology and Functions of Plant Roots as Affected by Potassium and Magnesium Deficiency

Nutrients are taken up from the environment via roots and the ability of a plant to acquire nutrients is determined by root system achitecture. Therefore, roots have the most important role in resource capture (Fitter, 1988b; Lynch, 1995; Lynch and Brown, 2001). The acquisition of nutrients by plant roots plays the most crucial role in nutrient acquisition (Gutschick, 1993).

Root size and morphology directly affects nutrient acquisition efficiency (Baligar and Duncan, 1990; Barber, 1995; Marschner, 1998). Root morphology parameters such as length, area, volume, diameter, density, number of roots are good indicators of nutrient uptake capacity (Bechmann et al., 2014; Jia et al., 2010) and can be affected by deficiencies or toxicities of mineral elements (Bennet, 1993; Hagemeyer and Breckle, 1996; Hodge et al., 1999a, 2000c; Marschner, 1995; Robinson et al., 1999).

In order to adapt the environmental conditions, plants may alter their root architecture. The effect of N and P on root growth have been has been extensively studied, however, K has a different mechanism on root growth and requires more attention. It is well-known that K starvation inhibits root growth and development. Root elongation and lateral root formation and thus the capacity of nutrient use from soil are significantly reduced under K deficiency (Drew, 1975; Shin and Schachtmann, 2004; Armengaud et al., 2004; Zhi-Yong et al., 2008). Root morphogoly was found to be affected by different K levels in many species including pea, red clover, lucerne, rye, perennial ryegrass, barley, oilseed rape, cotton and Arabidopsis (Hogh-Jensen and Podersen, 2003; Sanchez-Calderon et al., 2005). Disruptions in root morphology and growth are mostly attributed to the impaired photosynthate supply into roots because photosynthetic rate as well as carbon-partitioning between shoots and roots highly depend on the presence of K (Cakmak et al., 1994; Bernarz et al., 1998; Pettigrew, 1999; Zhao et al., 2001). Therefore, the negative effects of K deficiency on root growth may highly restrict nutrient acquisition from the rhizosphere.

Levels of Mg have also profound effects on the root growth of plants. Reduced root growth is defined as a good indicator of Mg deficiency and as in the case of K, it is most likely to be the consequence of impaired carbohydrate transport from source leaves (Gransee and Führs, 2012). Additionally, a recent transcriptomic study showed that the highest number of regulated genes in response to Mg stavation was found in roots (Hermans et al., 2010b) suggesting that Mg could affect root development (Niu et al., 2014). However, there is very little research and published data on the effect of Mg deficiency on root morphological parameters. In a recent research, it was reported that Mg deficiency significantly decreased lateral root outgrowth and length in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Xiao et al., 2015).

A.6. Scope

Mineral element deficiencies of essential nutrients are a widely occurring problem on world's agricultural lands and associated with numerous reasons. Lack of an essential nutrient can significanlty limit plant growth and yield. In order to maximize crop production to meet the increasing demand, fertilizers are commonly used by farmers. Fertilizer use efficiency is directly related to nutrient use and utilization efficiency of crop plants. Major constraints of nutrient use efficiency include root architecture/plasticity and nutritional status of plants. The aim of this thesis is to reveal the effects of K and Mg deficiency on root morphology of wheat plants as well as the interactions of these nutrients with other elements in terms of uptake and utilization.

(B) MATERIALS AND METHODS

B.1 Seed Material & Germination

A standard spring-type bread wheat cultivar adapted to Mediterranean climate and widely grown in the Cukurova plain of Turkey (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) was used in all experiments conducted throughout this thesis. For germination, seeds were sown in perlite wetted with saturated CaSO₄ solution and placed in a dark growth chamber for 2-3 days set to constant temperature of 24°C. When seeds were germinated and the emerging coleoptiles were visible, the light/dark cycle in growth chamber was started for further plant development. Following six days after sowing, young wheat seedlings were transferred to nutrient solution culture.

B.2 Experimental Design

B.2.1 Potassium Nutrition and Root Morphology

This experiment was conducted in a growth chamber with 16 / 8 h light/dark periods. The temperature was maintained at 24°C and 18°C during light/dark periods respectively. During the light period, the photosynthetic flux density was 400 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. Relative humidity was kept at 60% during light and 70% during dark periods.

This experiment was designed to monitor the effect of K nutrition on the root morphological parameters. Wheat seedlings were transferred to 3-L plastic pots and grown in nutrient solution culture with different K treatments. The nutrient solution was composed of 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 1 mM MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.03 mM Fe-EDTA, 1 µM ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 1 µM MnSO₄.4H₂O, 1µM H₃BO₃, 0.2

 μ M CuSO4.5H2O, 0.1 μ M (NH4)6M07O24.4H2O and 0.2 μ M NiCl2.6H2O. K was supplied at four different levels (i.e., very low, low, medium and adequate). Adequate K pots was supplied 0.2 mM KH2PO4, 0.85 mM K2SO4 and 0.1 mM KCl, whereas all of the deficiency pots received 0.05 mM CaCl2.2H2O and 0.85 mM CaSO4.2H2O. K was supplied in the form of KH2PO4 and its concentration was 0.01, 0.03 and 0.05 mM in very low, low and medium-K pots respectively. Ca(H2PO4)2 was added to K-deficiency pots at a level of 0.1, 0.09 and 0.08 mM depending on the K-treatment (i.e., very low, low and medium-K, respectively). The nutrient solution was renewed every three days.

The experiment had a completely randomized and full factorial design with three replicate pots for each treatment. 10 seedlings were transferred in each pot. Five days following the transfer to solution culture, seedlings were thinned to nine in each pot. On the 8th day after transfer to solution culture, four plants from each pot were harvested. On the 10th and 12th day after transfer to solution culture, three and two plants were harvested, respectively. The same harvest procedure was followed in all of three harvests: Harvested plants were first separated into shoot and root fractions. Shoots were rinsed in distilled water and placed in 20 mL volume glass vials whereas roots were first analyzed for morphological features using an image analysis system as described in Section B.4. Following the image analysis, roots were incubated in 1 mM CaCl₂ and then distilled water for 2 min each and placed in 20 mL volume glass vials. All vials with harvested shoot and root samples were placed in a forced oven set to 60°C to dry the samples until a constant weight.

B.2.2 Magnesium Nutrition and Root Morphology

This experiment was conducted in a growth chamber under controlled climatic conditions in order to study the effect of Mg nutrition on root growth and morphology. The growth chamber was set to 16 / 8 h light/dark period. The temperature was kept at 24/20°C and the humidity at 60/70% during light/dark periods, respectively. The photosynthetic flux density was 400 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ in the growth chamber.

Young wheat seedling were transferred to 3-L solution culture pots. The nutrient solution was composed of 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 0.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.85 mM K₂SO₄, 0.1 mM KCl, 0.03 mM Fe-EDTA, 1 μ M ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 1 μ M MnSO₄.4H₂O, 1 μ M H₃BO₃, 0.2 μ M CuSO₄.5H₂O, 0.1 μ M (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O and 0.2 μ M NiCl₂.6H₂O. Mg was supplied in the form of MgSO₄.7H₂O and at 4 different rates (i.e., very-low, low, medium and adequate). Adequate Mg pots were supplied with 1 mM, very-low, low and medium Mg pots were supplied with 0.05, 0.01 and 0.025 mM Mg, respectively. All of the deficiency pots were additionally supplied with 1 mM CaSO₄.2H₂O. The nutrient solution was renewed every 3 days throughout the experiment.

The experimental design was completely randomized full-factorial. There were four different Mg treatments with 3 pot replicates. At first, 10 plants were planted in each pot. Following 5 days after transfer, seedlings were thinned to nine in each pot. First 4, then 3 and lastly 2 plants were harvested on 8th, 10th and 12th day after transfer to solution culture, respectively. Using an image analysis software described in Section B.4, roots were analyzed on the same day of harvest. Shoots were washed in distilled water. Roots were first soaked in 1 mM CaCl2 solution, then washed with distilled water. Washed shoots and roots were put into small glass tubes and oven-dried at 60°C until a constant weight.

B.2.3 Potassium Resupply to Deficient Plants

An additional experiment was conducted to monitor the changes in the root morphology of K-deficient plants as affected by a short term K resupply. The experiment was carried out in a growth chamber with 16/8 h light/dark periods. The photon flux density in the growth chamber was 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and the temperature was set to 24/18°C and relative humidity to 60/70 % during light/dark periods. The experiment had a completely randomized full factorial design with 4 replications.

Wheat seedlings transferred to solution culture were supplied with 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 1 mM MgSO₄.7H₂O, 1 µM ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 1 µM MnSO₄.4H₂O, 0.03 mM Fe-EDTA, 1 µM H₃BO₃, 0.2 µM CuSO₄.5H₂O, 0.1 µM (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O and 0.2 µM NiCl₂.6H₂O. There were different different K

application rates (i.e. low and adeqaute). Low K pots were supplied with 0.015 KH₂PO₄, 0.09 mM Ca(H₂PO₄)₂ and 0.85 mM CaSO₄.2H₂O, whereas adequate K pots received 0.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.85 mM K₂SO₄ and 0.1 mM KCl. Following 12 days after sowing, half of the low-K pots were resupplied with the adequate-K-nutrient solution. To monitor the changes during the resupply period, 4 pots from each treatment were harvested (i) at the time of resupply, (ii) 24 hours after resupply, (iii) 48 hours after resupply and (iv) 72 hours after resupply. Harvested roots were analyzed using an image analysis system as described in Section B.4. Roots were washed first with 1 mM CaCl₂ solution and then with distilled water. Washed shoots and roots were put into paper bags and oven-dried at 60°C for 3 days.

B.2.4 Effect of varied K Nutrition on Uptake of Other Mineral Nutrients

This experiment was conducted in a computer-controlled greenhouse located in Sabanci University, Istanbul, Turkey ($40^{\circ}53'25''N$, $29^{\circ}22'47''E$). The temperature was maintained at $22^{\circ}C$ (±2) during the experiment. The design of the experiment was completely randomized with 7 replications for each treatment.

Wheat seedlings were grown in 3-L solution culture pots. The nutrient solution culture composed of 2 mM Ca(NO₃)₂.4H₂O, 1 mM MgSO₄.7H₂O, 1 μ M ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 0.03 mM Fe-EDTA, 1 μ M MnSO₄.4H₂O, 1 μ M H₃BO₃, 0.2 μ M CuSO₄.5H₂O, 0.1 μ M (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O and 0.2 μ M NiCl₂.6H₂O. K was supplied at three different concentrations (i.e., low, medium and adequate). Adequate K pots were supplied with 0.2 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.85 mM K₂SO₄ and 0.1 mM KCl, whereas deficiency pots received 0.85 mM CaSO₄.2H₂O, 0.05 mM CaCl₂.2H₂O, 0.025 or 0.05 mM KH₂PO₄ and 0.09 or 0.08 mM Ca(H₂PO₄)₂ as additional nutrients. The nutrient solutions were refreshed every 3 days. At 10 days after transfer of plants (10 DAT) nutrient solution was renewed for a final time and then sampled at 0 h and 72 h (i.e. at 13 DAT) to calculate changes in uptake of nutrients as affected by different K application rates. At 13 DAT plants were harvested in the following fractions. Out of 25 plants in each pot, 15 plant

all 25 plants were harvested together. Roots were washed first in 1 mM CaCl₂ solution, then with distilled water. Shoots of the remaining 10 plants were divided into two fractions: the two oldest leaves and the remaining shoot parts. Harvested samples were put into paper bags and oven-dried at 60°C until a constant weight.

B.3. Digestion and Element Analysis

B.3.1 Closed-vessel digestion

Oven-dried shoot and root samples were ground into fine powder using an agate vibrating cup mill (Pulverisette 9; Fritsch GmbH; Germany). These powder samples were then weighed (ca. 0.2 g) and digested in a closed-vessel microwave system (MarsExpress, CEM Corp., Matthews, NC, USA) with 2 ml of 30 % H₂O₂ (w/v) and 5 ml of 65 % HNO₃ (w/v). Following the digestion, the sample volume was brought up to 20 mL with ultra-pure water (18.2 M Ω). After filtration, mineral element concentrations were determined with an inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Vista-Pro Axial, Varian Pty Ltd., Mulgrave, Australia).

B.3.2 Open-vessel digestion

Shoots and roots were harvested into 20 mL glass vials and oven-dried. The dry weight of the samples ranged between 50 and 370 mg. All vials were added 1.5 ml of 30% H_2O_2 (w/v) and then 3 ml of 65 % HNO₃ (w/v) including blank samples. Samples were incubated overnight and then wet-digested on a hot plate set to 130°C. Digestate was disolved in 20 ml of 5 % HNO₃, filtred and analyzed for ICP-range mineral elements as described above.

B.4 Analysis of Plant Root Systems

Whole roots of single plants were immersed in a transparent plastic tray filled with ultra-pure water and scanned with a calibrated scanner (Epson Perfection V700 Photo, Epson, Japan). Root length, root surface area, root volume, number of root tips and number of root forks were determined using the WinRHIZO image analysis software (Regent Instruments Inc., Quebec, Canada).

B.5 Determination of Nitrate Concentration

Nitrate concentration in leaves and nutrient solution was determined according to the colorimetric method described by Cataldo et al. (1975). 50 mg (\pm 1) of fine powder sample was weighed and extracted in 5 ml distilled water in a water bath set to 45°C for one hour. Samples were then centrifuged and the supernatans were collected. To 100 µL of sample extract, 0.4 mL sulfuric acid containing 5% salicylic acid was added. After 20 minutes, 9.5 mL of 2 N NaOH solution was added. Samples were cooled down to room temperature and the intensity of the yellow color was read at 410 nm against nitrate standards.

B.6 Determination of Total Free Amino Acids

Total free amino acid concentration in leaves was determined according to the spectroscopic method described by Sadasivam and Manickam (1996). 50 mg (\pm 1) of fine powdered leaf samples were extracted in 5 mL 80% Ethanol (v/v). Following the centrifugation, the supernatants were collected. To 100 µl sample extract, 1 mL ninhydrin reagent was added and the total volume was brought up to 2 mL by adding distilled water. The mixture was incubated in a water bath set to 95°C for 20 minutes. To that mixture, 5 mL of diluent solvent (1:1 n-propanol:distilled water) was added. After 15 minutes, the intensity of the purple color was read at 570 nm against leucine standards.

B.7 Determination of Water-soluble Carbohydrates

The procedure described by Yemm and Willis (1954) was used to determine water-soluble carbohydrate concentrations in leaves and roots, but with slight modifications. Fine-powdered leaf and root samples (ca. 50 mg (\pm 1)) were extracted in 5 ml 80 % ethanol (v/v). The extracts were centrifuged at 5000 *g* and the supernatants were collected. For the preparation of anthrone reagent, 0.6 g anthrone was weighed in a glass beaker and 100 ml 20 % ethanol (v/v) was added. To this solution, 300 mL 98 % H₂SO₄ was added very slowly. The glass beaker was kept in a container full of ice and the anthrone solution was allowed to cool down to room temperature before using. To 250 µl sample extract, 4 mL cold anthrone reagent was added. The mixture was incubated in a water bath set to 95°C for 11 minutes. The samples were allowed to cool down to room temperature and the color intensity was read at 620 nm against D-glucose standards.

B.8 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using JMP (13.0.0) (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) software. The data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) to evaluate the significance of treatment effects. Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test at the 5 % level (p < 0.05) was applied to determine the significant differences between treatment means.

(C) RESULTS

C.1. Experiments on K and Mg Nutrition on Root Morphology

C.1.1. Potassium Nutrition on Root Morphology

K-deficient plants showed leaf tip burns and necrotic lesions in the older leaves, whereas these symptoms were not present in plants supplied with adequate K. K deficiency greatly restricted both root and shoot growth and resulted in stunted plants. Root growth was appeared to be more affected by K deficiency than the shoot growth (Figure 1.1.1).

Shoot and root dry matter production and shoot-to-root ratios of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat plants grown under varied K nutrition are shown in Figure 1.1.2. K deficiency dramatically reduced shoot and root dry matter production in all of the deficiency treatments when compared to K-adequate plants. The difference between the shoot dry matter of K-deficient plants and K-adequate plants increased with time. Compared to control plants, lowest K (10 μ M) treatment reduced shoot biomass by 42%, 56% and 65% in 14-, 16-, and 18-day-old wheat plants respectively. The reduction in root dry matter in the same treatment was higher (i.e. 52%, 63% and 68% in 14-, 16-, and 18-day-old wheat plants respectively), leading to a greater shoot-to-root ratio in K-deficient plants. Interaction of KxTime was found as significant (p<0.05) for all shoot, root and shoot:root ratio due to increasing effect of K-deficiency stress with duration of time (Figure 1.1.2.).



Figure 1.1.1: Shoot and root growth of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Figure 1.1.3 shows scanned images of shoots and roots of the 14-, 16-, and 18day-old wheat plants grown hydroponically under various K treatments. K-deficient plants had long and slender leaves, whereas K-adequate plants had thicker leaves. Both time and increasing K supply enhanced shoot and root growth. The shoot and root growth rate of K-deficient plants were much slower than K-adequate plants. Root growth was even more affected than the shoot growth in all deficiency treatments. Lateral root and root hair formation were severely reduced as a result of K deficiency. Root density was increased by increasing K supply.



Shoot Biomass: HSD_{0.05} (K, Time, KxTime) = (9.15, 7.18, 20.72) Root Biomass: HSD_{0.05} (K, Time, KxTime) = (5.06, 3.97, 11.46) Shoot:Root Ratio: HSD_{0.05} (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.18, 0.14, 0.4)

Figure 1.1.2: Shoot (A) and root (B) biomass production and shoot-to-root ratio (C) of 14-, 16-, and 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.


Figure 1.1.3: Shoot and root images of 14- (A), 16- (B) and 18-day-old (C) wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Root morphological parameters (i.e., root length, root area, root volume, number of root tips and root forks) were significantly affected by the absence of adequate K supply. Among the root parameters studied, the most sensitive parameter was found to be the number of root forks (Fig 1.1.4). Compared to adequate-K plants, lowest K treatment reduced number of root forks by 82% in 18-day-old wheat plants. This reduction was 63% and 40% in low-K and medium-K treatments, respectively. On 14 days after germination, the overall reduction in root morphological parameters was over 26%, 21% and 7% in very low, low and medium-K treatments. On 18 days after germination, the overall reduction was over 63%, 43% and 16%, respectively.



Root Length: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (67, 53, 149) Root Area: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (6.9, 5.5, 15.3) Root Volume: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.06, 0.04, 0.13) Root Tips: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (72, 57, 158) Root Forks: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (384, 304, 846)

Figure 1.1.4: Root length (A), root area (B), root volume (C), number of root tips (D) and forks (E) of 14-, 16- and 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

As expected, both shoot and root K concentrations and contents (Table 1.1.1) of wheat plants increased with increasing K supply. Compared to adequate K treatment, lowest K treatment reduced the shoot and root K concentration of 18-day-old wheat plants by over 6- and 11-fold, respectively. Increasing K supply reduced this difference between deficient and adequate plants. Shoot K contents of 18-day-old wheat plants ranged from 0.53 and 9.5 mg plant⁻¹ and it decreased by 18-fold in very-low-K treatment in comparison to adequate-K treatment. Similarly, root K content of adequate-K plants was over 36-, 20- and 10-fold higher than of very-low-, low- and medium-K plants, respectively.

Table 1.1.1: Shoot and root K concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Α			K Concen	tration (%)		
K Supply	14	DAS	161	DAS	18	DAS
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root
Very Low	0.92 ± 0.04	0.68 ± 0.01	1.14 ± 0.06	0.70 ± 0.03	0.85 ± 0.05	0.60 ± 0.02
Low	1.66 ± 0.12	0.82 ± 0.05	1.79 ± 0.04	0.77 ± 0.03	1.27 ± 0.13	0.57 ± 0.05
Medium	2.36 ± 0.11	1.05 ± 0.10	2.41 ± 0.20	1.07 ± 0.12	1.50 ± 0.03	0.77 ± 0.02
Adequate	5.65 ± 0.23	7.11 ± 0.14	5.37 ± 0.14	6.90 ± 0.10	5.28 ± 0.10	6.79 ± 0.24
В			K Content	(mg plant ⁻¹)		
K Supply	14	DAS	161	DAS	18	DAS
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root
Very Low	0.32 ± 0.04	0.14 ± 0.01	0.47 ± 0.04	0.15 ± 0.03	0.53 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.02
Low	0.82 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.03	1.33 ± 0.13	0.34 ± 0.04	1.32 ± 0.09	0.33 ± 0.04
Medium	1.35 ± 0.01	0.44 ± 0.05	2.08 ± 0.11	0.63 ± 0.07	2.01 ± 0.13	0.67 ± 0.02
Adequate	3.44 ± 0.24	2.91 ± 0.24	5.10 ± 0.44	3.95 ± 0.26	9.50 ± 0.52	6.91 ± 0.42

Shoot K Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.11, 0.09, 0.26) Root K Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.1, 0.086, 0.24) Shoot K Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.2, 0.16, 0.45) Root K Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.01, 0.01, 0.03)

In the absence of adequate K supply, shoot and root Mg concentrations of 14-, 16and 18-day old wheat plants were found to be increased (Table 1.1.2). Following 18 days after sowing, shoot Mg concentration of adequate-K plants was only one third of verylow-K plants. Low- and medium-K treatments also increased the shoot Mg concentration, but in lower rates. In comparison to adequate-K treatment, root Mg concentration in verylow-, low- and medium was 5-, 5.6- and 6-fold higher, respectively. The similar trend was also observed in shoot and root Mg contents of 14-, 16- and 18-day-old wheat plants. K-deficient plant shoots and roots were found to be richer in Mg content than adequate-K plants.

Table 1.1.2: Shoot and root Mg concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (10 μ M), low (30 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

			Mg Concent	ration (mg kg-1)		
K Supply	14	DAS	16	DAS	18	18 DAS	
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	
Very Low	5911 ± 565	10320 ± 391	6388 ± 287	9403 ± 141	6793 ± 741	8377 ± 446	
Low	5422 ± 117	12375 ± 238	5396 ± 156	10637 ± 278	5844 ± 299	9440 ± 538	
Medium	4584 ± 62	10778 ± 42	4840 ± 355	9733 ± 411	5315 ± 59	10265 ± 227	
Adequate	2377 ± 187	1965 ± 208	$2301~\pm~89$	1733 ± 184	$2243 \pm _{285}$	1683 ± 186	
			Mg Conte	nt (µg plant-1)			
K Supply	14	DAS	16	DAS	18	DAS	
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	
Very Low	208 ± 13	211 ± 16	266 ± 41	206 ± 36	421 ± 25	269 ± 35	
Low	270 ± 3	443 ± 27	$403~\pm~48$	474 ± 34	607 ± 38	545 ± 87	
Medium	262 ± 15	448 ± 12	419 ± 36	570 ± 24	709 ± 43	891 ± 38	
Adequate	144 ± 3	81 ± 17	219 ± 17	100 ± 19	405 ± 70	172 ± 26	

Shoot Mg Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (434, 340, 982) Root Mg Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (399, 313, 903) Shoot Mg Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (45.5, 38, 103) Root Mg Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (47, 37, 107)

C.1.2 Magnesium Nutrition and Root Morphology

Magnesium deficient plants showed typical interveinal chlorosis in the older leaves. Chlorotic symptoms were pronounced with decreasing Mg supply. Magnesium deficiency clearly reduced both shoot and root growth (Fig 1.2.1). Newly emerging leaves of deficient plants were very thin and not fully developed, whereas the young leaves of adequate-Mg plants grew very healthy. Increasing Mg supply enhanced shoot elongation. Very-low-Mg plants were about half the size of adequate-Mg-plants in terms of shoot elongation.



Figure 1.2.1: Shoot and root growth of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply. In parallel with the visual observations, shoot and root dry matter production was significantly restricted in the absence of adequate Mg nutrition (Fig 1.2.2). Root dry mass production of 18-day-old wheat plants ranged from 34 to 102 mg plant-1 under varied Mg nutrition. Very-low-, low- and medium-Mg treatments reduced root biomass by 3-, 2.6- and 1.7-fold, respectively. In comparison to roots, shoot dry matter production was less affected by Mg deficiency. Following 18 days after sowing, shoot biomass ranged from 86 to 180 mg plant-1 and in lowest-Mg treatment, shoot dry weight was reduced by 50% in comparison to adequate-Mg treatment. Root growth being much more affected resulted in higher shoot-to-root ratios under deficiency treatments.

Shoot and root images of 14-, 16- and 18-day-old wheat plants grown hydroponically under various Mg supply are presented in Figure 1.2.3. All of the deficiency treatments resulted in limited shoot and root growth, whereas higher Mg supply enhanced shoot and root growth rate. Root architecture was disrupted in the absence of adequate Mg supply. Root hair formation was severly restricted or even completely inhibited under deficiency treatments. Increasing Mg supply resulted in denser root systems (i.e., increased root surface area, root volume).



Shoot Biomass: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (9,17, 7.18, 20.04) Root Biomass: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (5.52, 4.33, 12.5) Shoot:Root Ratio: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (0.12, 0.09, 0.27)

Figure 1.2.2: Shoot (A) and root biomass (B) production and shoot:root ratio (C) of 14-, 16-, and 18-day-old wheat (Triticum aestivum cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply.



Figure 1.2.3: Shoot and root images of 14- (A), 16- (B) and 18-day-old (C) wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply.

The effect of Mg nutrition on root morphological parameters are shown in Figure 1.2.4. As expected, both time and increasing Mg supply promoted root length, root area, root volume, number of root tips as well as number of root forks. All of these parameters were found to be very sensitive to Mg nutrition. Very-low-Mg treatment resulted in an overall reduction by over 65% in the studied parameters on the 18. day after sowing. This reduction was over 58% and 35% in low- and medium-Mg treatments, respectively. Among the parameters studied, the most sensitive root morphological parameter to Mg nutrition was found to be the number of root forks and root volume. Root volume was increased upto 70% under adequate Mg supply in comparison to deficiency treatments. Root forks were even more sensitive to Mg deficiency. Lowest-Mg treatment reduced the number of root forks by over 80% compared to adequate-Mg treatment.



Root Length: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (92, 72, 205) Root Area: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (10, 8, 22) Root Volume: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (0.09, 0.07, 0.2) Root Tips: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (113, 89, 252) Root Forks: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (574, 452, 1279)

Figure 1.2.4: Root length (A), root area (B), root volume (C), number of root tips (D) and forks (E) of 14-, 16- and 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply.

The impact of various Mg supply on shoot and root Mg concentration and content of experimental plants is given in Table 1.2.1. As expected, increasing Mg supply had a positive effect on both on shoot and root Mg concentrations and contents. In all 14-, 16- and 18-day-old wheat plants highest shoot and root Mg concentrations were observed at adequate Mg supply. Similarly, Mg content of shoots and roots increased significantly with increasing Mg treatments. Mg content in shoots varied between 28 and 405 µg plant⁻¹ and shoot Mg content of adequate-Mg plants was over 14-fold higher than of very-low-Mg plants. Similar results were obtained in root Mg contents as well.

Table 1.2.1: Shoot and root Mg concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply.

			Mg Concent	ration (mg kg ⁻	¹)		
Mg Supply	14	DAS	16	DAS	18	18 DAS	
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	
Very Low	459 ± 25	637 ± 18	368 ± 12	586 ± 18	332 ± 15	551 ± 26	
Low	501 ± 8	$728 \pm _{28}$	429 ± 6	651 ± 19	383 ± 44	640 ± 17	
Medium	659 ± 24	862 ± 102	543 ± 25	762 ± 87	478 ± 18	805 ± 127	
Adequate	2378 ± 187	1966 ± 208	2302 ± 89	1733 ± 184	2244 ± 285	1683 ± 186	
			Mg Conte	nt (µg plant-1)			
Mg Supply	14	DAS	16	DAS	18	DAS	
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	
X7. X							
very Low	24 ± 2	16 ± 1	22 ± 2	15 ± 1	28 ± 4	$1\overline{9 \pm 4}$	
Very Low Low	24 ± 2 25 ± 1	16 ± 1 20 ± 1	22 ± 2 28 ± 2	$1\overline{5 \pm 1}$ 20 ± 1	28 ± 4 36 ± 5	$1\overline{9 \pm 4}$ 24 ± 3	
Very Low Low Medium	24 ± 2 25 ± 1 37 ± 4	16 ± 1 20 ± 1 30 ± 8	22 ± 2 28 ± 2 46 ± 3	15 ± 1 20 ± 1 35 ± 1	28 ± 4 36 ± 5 59 ± 6	$1\overline{9 \pm 4}$ 24 ± 3 46 ± 6	
Very Low Low Medium	24 ± 2 25 ± 1 37 ± 4	16 ± 1 20 ± 1 30 ± 8	$22 \pm 2 \\ 28 \pm 2 \\ 46 \pm 3 \\ 210$	15 ± 1 20 ± 1 35 ± 1	28 ± 4 36 ± 5 59 ± 6	19 ± 4 24 ± 3 46 ± 6	

Shoot Mg Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (135, 106, 305) Root Mg Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (145, 114, 328) Shoot Mg Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (27, 21, 62) Root Mg Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (14, 12, 32)

Previous results showed that Mg concentration and content both in shoots and roots tend to be increased in the absence of adequate K supply (Table 1.1.2). However, there was no such remarkable changes in K concentration or content of Mg-deficient plants (Table 1.2.2). Mg deficiency only slightly increased the shoot and root K concentration and this effect was not significant. K content of shoots and roots increased both with time and increasing Mg supply, whereas low K supply significantly enhanced shoot and root Mg content (Table 1.1.2).

Table 1.2.2: Shoot and root K concentrations (A) and contents (B) of 14-, 16- and 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution with very low (5 μ M), low (10 μ M), medium (25 μ M) and adequate (1000 μ M) Mg supply.

	K Concentration (%)						
Mg Supply	14	DAS	16	DAS	18	18 DAS	
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	
Very Low	6.41 ± 0.44	6.79 ± 0.23	6.41 ± 0.23	7.15 ± 0.34	6.22 ± 0.20	7.08 ± 0.33	
Low	6.18 ± 0.07	7.22 ± 0.19	6.17 ± 0.33	7.29 ± 0.11	6.19 ± 0.19	7.27 ± 0.19	
Medium	5.96 ± 0.17	7.12 ± 0.17	5.37 ± 0.31	6.92 ± 0.13	5.13 ± 0.15	7.54 ± 1.38	
Adequate	5.65 ± 0.23	7.11 ± 0.14	5.37 ± 0.14	6.90 ± 0.10	5.28 ± 0.10	6.79 ± 0.24	
			K Content	(mg plant ⁻¹)			
Mg Supply	14	DAS	16	DAS	18	DAS	
	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	Shoot	Root	
Very Low	3.35 ± 0.22	1.72 ± 0.04	3.78 ± 0.09	1.89 ± 0.13	5.31 ± 0.68	2.41 ± 0.54	
Low	3.11 ± 0.12	2.01 ± 0.12	3.98 ± 0.39	2.27 ± 0.13	5.79 ± 0.39	2.77 ± 0.32	
Medium	3.33 ± 0.22	2.49 ± 0.37	4.51 ± 0.06	3.20 ± 0.32	6.32 ± 0.63	4.29 ± 0.67	
Adequate	3.44 ± 0.24	2.91 ± 0.24	5.10 ± 0.44	3.95 ± 0.26	9.50 ± 0.52	6.91 ± 0.42	

Shoot K Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (0.305, 0.23, 0.64) Root K Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (0.58, 0.45, 1.32) Shoot K Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (2.02, 1.58, 4.56) Root K Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (Mg, Time, MgxTime) = (0.24, 0.19, 0.55)

C.1.3 Potassium Resupply to Deficient Plants

Wheat plants grown under low K supply exhibited deficiency symptoms (Figure 1.3.1). Older leaves of the deficient plants were dry on the leaf tip and had a yellowishbrown color. In comparison to adequate-K plants, the leaves and stems of the low-K plants were thinner and tillering was reduced by K-deficiency.



Figure 1.3.1: Shoot growth of 15-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours.

In paralell with the findings of previous experiment, root and shoot growth of wheat plants grown in the absence of adequate K nutrition were significantly reduced (Fig 1.3.2). On 12 days after sowing, half of the low-K-treated plants were resupplied with K at adequate concentration for 72 hours. A short term K-resupply enhanced root and shoot growth.



Figure 1.3.2: Effect of K resupply on shoot and root growth of 15-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours.

As expected, low K treatment significantly reduced shoot and root dry matter production (Table 1.3.1). The effect of K resupply on shoot biomass production was significant. 72 hours of K resupply increased shoot dry matter, however its effect on root biomass could not be observed. The effect of K deficiency and K resupply on shoot-to-root ratio was not significant or not an effect at all.

Table 1.3.1: Effect of K resupply on shoot (A) and root (B) biomass production and shoot-to-root ratio (C) of 12-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours.

Α		Shoot Bioma	ss (mg plant ⁻¹)	
K Supply	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
Low	24.2 ± 0.8	28.3 ± 1.3	34.6 ± 1.6	34.2 ± 2.6
Low + Resupply	24.2 ± 0.8	29.9 ± 1.3	32.7 ± 1.7	37.6 ± 0.9
Adequate	31.0 ± 0.4	39.4 ± 1.7	48.3 ± 1.0	52.9 ± 0.8
В		Root Biomas	ss (mg plant ⁻¹)	
K Supply	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
Low	14.9 ± 0.9	17.1 ± 0.1	20.3 ± 1.3	20.1 ± 1.7
Low + Resupply	14.9 ± 0.9	16.4 ± 0.9	16.0 ± 2.0	20.5 ± 1.1
Adequate	19.1 ± 1.1	25.1 ± 1.6	30.9 ± 1.2	30.8 ± 2.0
		Sheet (D		
<u> </u>		Shoot:R	oot Ratio	
K Supply	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
Low	1.62 ± 0.08	1.66 ± 0.08	1.70 ± 0.04	1.71 ± 0.08
Low + Resupply	1.62 ± 0.08	1.82 ± 0.06	2.05 ± 0.19	1.84 ± 0.07
Adequate	1.62 ± 0.11	1.57 ± 0.04	1.56 ± 0.07	1.72 ± 0.11

Shoot Biomass: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (1.18, 1.5, 3.35) Root Biomass: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (1.16, 1.47, 3.31) Shoot:Root Ratio: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.08, 0.1, 0.22)

K deficiency and a short term K resupply induced changes in shoot and root morphology of wheat plants (Figure 1.3.2). Stems and leaves of K-deficient plants were remarkably thinner. K resupply accelerated tillering and enhanced shoot growth. Although root dry matter production was not affected, resupplied K induced root hair formation and increased root density as compared to low-K plants.



Figure 1.3.3: Effect of K resupply on shoot and root morphology of 12-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours.

As expected, there were significant alterations in the root morpholgy under K depletion (Figure 1.3.3). Most sensitive parameter to K deficiency was found to be root length and number of root forks, whereas root volume was the least sensitive parameter. K resupply on deficient plants markedly increased number of root tips and forks, by 83% and 65%, respectively, after 72 hours. Root length was another parameter that responded to K resupply. In comparison to deficient plants, root length was increased by 36% after 72 hours of K resupply. Such effects were not observed in root area and root volume.



Root Length: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (33, 42, 94) Root Area: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (2.5, 3.17, 7.05) Root Volume: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.01, 0.02, 0.05) Root Tips: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (68, 86, 191) Root Forks: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (108, 137, 304)

Figure 1.3.3: Effect of K resupply on root length (**A**), root area (**B**), root volume (**C**), number of root tips (**D**) and forks (**E**) of 12-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours.

A short term resupply of K significantly increased shoot and root K concentrations of deficient plants (Table 1.3.2). Very soon after resupply treatment (i.e. 24 hours following K-resupply), the shoot K concentration increased by 2.6 fold in comparison to low-K plants and there was no significant difference in the shoot K concentration of K-resupplied and K-adequate plants. Similarly, the root K concentration increased by 4.1 fold. The positive effect of K-resupply was also observed in shoot and root K contents. In comparison to low-K treatment, 72 hours of K-resupply increased shoot and root K content by 4.7 and 6.2 fold, respectively.

Table 1.3.2: Effect of K resupply on shoot and root K concentration (**A**) and contents (**B**) 12-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown in nutrient solution. K was supplied to plants at low (25 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) concentration or resupplied to 12-day-old wheat plants at adequate concentration for 72 hours.

			K Concer	ntration (%)	
	K Supply	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
	Low	1.5 ± 0	1.4 ± 0	1.3 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.1
Shoot	Low + Resupply	1.5 ± 0	5.1 ± 0.1	5.4 ± 0.1	5.4 ± 0.1
	Adequate	5.7 ± 0.3	5.3 ± 0	5.4 ± 0.2	5.5 ± 0.1
	Low	0.9 ± 0	0.8 ± 0	0.7 ± 0	0.7 ± 0
Root	Low + Resupply	0.9 ± 0	3.6 ± 0.1	4.1 ± 0.2	4.1 ± 0
	Adequate	5.9 ± 0.1	6.1 ± 0.2	6.0 ± 0.1	5.5 ± 0.1
			K Conten	t (µg plant-1)	
	K Supply	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
	Low	360 ± 14	400 ± 13	438 ± 28	431 ± 23
Shoot	Low + Resupply	360 ± 14	1532 ± 74	1772 ± 96	2037 ± 66
	Adequate	$1777 ~\pm~ 113$	$2094~\pm~81$	$2622~\pm~108$	$2915~\pm~79$
	Low	140 ± 8	135 ± 7	143 ± 2	134 ± 11
Root	Low + Resupply	140 ± 8	592 ± 26	667 ± 111	832 ± 47
	Adequate	1120 ± 72	1525 ± 85	1871 ± 125	1684 ± 11

Shoot K Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.09, 0.12, 0.28) Root K Concentration: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (0.09, 0.125, 0.2804) Shoot K Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (60, 77, 172) Root K Content: $HSD_{0.05}$ (K, Time, KxTime) = (59, 75, 169)

C.2. Effect of varied K Nutrition on Uptake of Other Mineral Nutrients

K deficiency resulted in yellowish-brown leaves with necrotic lesions (Figure 2.1). Leaves of K-deficient plants were also narrower and stems were thinner than of adequate-K plants. Adequate-K plants had larger leaf area as well. Along with the leaf symptoms, K-deficient plants also reduced shoot and root growth (Figure 2.2). Tillering was significantly restricted in K-deficient plants. Root growth was also severely affected by low and medium K treatments. The roots of these plants were thinner and shorter.





In parallel with visual observations, shoot and root dry mass production were significantly reduced by low and medium K treatments (Table 2.1). Compared to adequate-K plants, shoot biomass was reduced by about 46% and 24% and root biomass was reduced by 44% and 20% under low and medium K supply, respectively. There was no significant difference in the shoot-to-root ratio between treatments.



Figure 2.2: Shoot and root growth of 18-day-old wheat wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Table 2.1: Shoot and root biomass production and shoot-to-root ratio of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

	Shoot Biom	ass	Root Bioma	ISS	Shoot:Root Rati
K Supply		(mg p	lant ⁻¹)		
Low	42 ± 1	с	16 ± 0	с	2.6 ± 0.1 a
Medium	59 ± 1	b	23 ± 1	b	2.5 ± 0.1 a
Adequate	78 ± 4	a	29 ± 2	a	2.7 ± 0.2 a

* Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications. The uptake of nutrients was found to be altered by varied K supply (Table 2.2). As expected, there was a linear increase in the K uptake µmol plant⁻¹ with increasing K supply. Along with K, the uptake of P and NO₃ per plant also enhanced significantly with increasing K supply. Low K supply reduced P uptake by 46% and NO₃ uptake by 71%. Under medium K supply, the reduction in uptake was 30% and 42% for P and N uptake, respectively. On the other hand, Mg, S and Ca uptake per dry weight unit of root was increased significantly in the absence of adequate K supply. For example, Mg uptake under low K supply was increased by about 160% in comparison to adequate K supply. Similarly, Ca uptake was increased by 276% and 133% under low and medium K supply, respectively.

Table 2.2: Cumulative K, P, S, Mg, Ca and NO₃ uptake of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

			Cumulative up	ptake in 48 hou	urs	
K Supply	К	Р	S	Mg	Ca	NO ₃
			(µmol plant ⁻¹)		(mg plant ⁻¹)
Low	3± 0 b	7± 1 c	22 ± 5 a	14± 2 a	46±6 a	2± 1 c
Medium	6± 0 b	9± 1 b	23 ± 6 a	16± 2 a	41±6 a	4 ± 1 b
Adequate	61± 4 a	13± 0 a	20± 6 a	10± 3 b	22± 6 b	7± 1 a

Cumulative uptake in 48 hours (mg g ⁻¹ root)								
K Supply	К	Р	Ŝ	Mg	Ca	NO ₃		
Low	7 ± 1 b	14 ± 1 a	$43 \pm 10 a$	21 ± 3 a	113 ± 16 a	131 ± 30 b		
Medium	10 ± 0 b	12 ± 1 b	32 ± 8 b	16 ± 2 b	70 ± 13 b	152 ± 29 b		
Adequate	82 ± 5 a	14 ± 1 a	22 ± 6 b	8 ± 2 c	30 ± 8 c	254 ± 36 a		

* Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications.

Mineral element concentration and content in shoots and roots of 18-day-old wheat plants (Table 2.3) also reflect the effect of K nutrition on the uptake of nutrients. As per the uptake results, K concentration and content in shoots and roots increased with increasing K supply. Unlike the increasing trend in P uptake (Table 2.2), P was found to be more concentrated in K-deficient shoots. Both Mg concentration and content in shoots and roots were significantly affected by various K applications. In the absence of adequate K supply, Mg concentration peaked in shoots and roots, however adequate K supply significantly suppressed shoot and root Mg concentration. Similarly, Mg content of shoots and roots were enhanced particularly at the medium-K level.

Table 2.3: K, Mg, P and S concentrations (**A**) and contents (**B**) in shoots and roots of 18day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Α			Mineral Concer	ntrations (mg kg ⁻¹)	
	K Supply	К	Mg	Р	S
	Low	9859 ± 256 c	6061 ± 54 a	9243 ± 363 a	4200 ± 85 b
Shoot	Medium	12482 ± 273 b	5912 ± 117 b	8959 ± 281 a	4587 ± 136 a
	Adequate	$53188 \pm 691 \ a$	1932 ± 39 c	$8559 \pm 209 \ b$	$4158 \pm 73 b$
	Low	5605 ± 412 b	4853 ± 491 b	$5399 \pm 263 \ c$	2482 ± 148 b
Root	Medium	7178 ± 356 b	6217 ± 224 a	6014 ± 90 b	2676 ± 115 a
	Adequate	53830 ± 3395 a	1556 ± 133 c	6924 ± 221 a	$2354 \pm 86 b$
В			Mineral Cont	tents (µg plant ⁻¹)	
	K Supply	K	Mg	P	S
	Low	415 ± 9 c	255 ± 5 b	389 ± 9 c	177 ± 4 c
Shoot	Medium	738 ± 18 b	350 ± 10 a	530 ± 17 b	271 ± 7 b
	Adequate	4174 ± 252 a	152 ± 8 c	672 ± 44 a	326 ± 13 a
	Low	91 ± 9 b	79 ± 10 b	88 ± 6 c	40 ± 3 b
Root	Medium	168 ± 13 b	145 ± 9 a	141 ± 6 b	63 ± 4 a
	Adequate	1567 ± 186 a	45 ± 6 c	201 ± 16 a	68 ± 6 a

* Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications.

There were significant alterations in shoot nitrate concentration between treatments (Table 2.4). In all treatments, shoot nitrate was found to be more concentrated in younger leaves than in older leaves. Medium K treatment reduced nitrate concentration in old and young leaves by 72% and 42.5%, respectively. In contrast to nitrate, free amino acid concentration in old leaves, young leaves and shoots was significantly increased under K deficiency (Table 2.5). The highest concentration of free amino acids was observed in the low-K treatment.

Table 2.4: Shoot nitrate concentration of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

	N	litrate	Concentratio	on (mg	g ⁻¹ DW)		
K Supply	Old Lea	Old Leaves		Young Leaves		Shoot	
Low	9 ± 2	b	16 ± 6	b	14 ± 2	b	
Medium	7 ± 2	b	16 ± 2	b	17 ± 3	b	
Adequate	25 ± 6	а	28 ± 4	a	33 ± 3	а	

^{*} Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications.

Along with free amino acids, concentration of soluble carbohydrates was also affected by K rate (Table 2.6). Soluble carbohydrate concentration was significantly increased by K deficiency, especially in the old leaves. For example, soluble carbohydrate concentration in old leaves was 78% higher in medium-K treatment than in adequate-K. Similarly in the young leaves, it was increased by 46% in comparison to adequate-K plants.

Table 2.5: Total free amino acid concentration of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Free Amino Acid Concentration (mg g ⁻¹ DW)								
K Supply	Old Lea	ves	Young Le	eaves	Shoo	t		
Low	32 ± 5	а	31 ± 3	a	35 ± 5	а		
Medium	29 ± 3	а	27 ± 2	а	33 ± 6	а		
Adequate	22 ± 2	b	20 ± 2	b	23 ± 1	b		

* Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications.

Table 2.6: Water-soluble carbohydrate concentration of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

Soluble Carbohydrate Concentration (mg g ⁻¹ DW)					
K Supply	Old Leaves	Young Leaves	Shoot		
Low	150 ± 29 b	83 ± 4 b	90 ± 12 b		
Medium	211 ± 24 a	101 ± 8 a	125 ± 10 a		
Adequate	118 ± 15 c	69 ± 10 c	83 ± 12 b		

* Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications.

Total N concentration in old leaves, young leaves, shoot and roots is presented in Table 2.7 Total N concentration was found to be affected by K treatments. Total N (%) in young leaves, shoot and root showed a linear response to K fertilization and peaked at adequate K level.

Table 2.7: Total nitrogen concentration of 18-day-old wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Ceyhan-99) plants grown hydroponically with low (25 μ M), medium (50 μ M) and adequate (2000 μ M) K supply.

	Nitrogen %				
K Supply	Old Leaves	Young Leaves	Shoot	Root	
Low	$4,0 \pm 0,1$ b	$5,5 \pm 0,4$ b	$5,4 \pm 0,2$ c	$3,8 \pm 0,1$ c	
Medium	$3,6 \pm 0,3$ c	$5,9 \pm 0,2$ a	$5,8 \pm 0,1$ b	$4,2 \pm 0,2$ b	
Adequate	$5,0 \pm 0,1$ a	$6,2 \pm 0,2$ a	$7,0 \pm 0,2$ a	$4,6 \pm 0,2$ a	

* Values with different letters within each column differ significantly at P = 0.05 probability level. Each data represents the mean of seven replications.

(D) DISCUSSION

Development of interveinal chlorosis on older, fully-expanded leaves is typical symptom of Mg deficiency. Expression of leaf chlorosis is attributed to the role of Mg in chlorophyll biosynthesis, since it serves as the central molecule in the chlorophyll molecule (Gransee and Führs, 2012). In the present study, wheat plants supplied with low concentrations of Mg showed interveinal chlorosis on the older leaves (Figure 1.2.1) due to high phloem-mobility of Mg (Broadley et al., 2008). As expected, severity of these symptoms intensified with decreasing Mg availability in growth medium.

Magnesium is one of the essential macronutrients that is required by plants for growth and development. As expected, Mg deficiency significantly decreased shoot and root dry matter production in wheat plants (Figure 1.2.2). Root growth was found to be more affected by Mg deficiency than shoot growth, leading to a greater shoot-to-root ratio in wheat plants. Similar results have also been reported in a number of plant species including wheat, bean, maize and citrus (Cakmak et al., 1994b; Mengutay et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2012).

Root growth is a growth process that requires delivery photoassimilates from shots. Mg is known to be a key player in phloem loading and transport of sucrose (Cakmak and Kirkby, 2008). Very recently, Farhat et al (2016) showed in ¹⁴C labeling experiments that the radioactivity distribution within plants was severely affected by the Mg nutritional status of the plants. In case of Mg deficiency, ¹⁴C transportation from leaves to shoots was completely inhibited. Cakmak et al. (1994b) reported that a short term resupply of Mg to Mg-deficient plants immediately regenerated sucrose export; suggesting that Mg is directly involved in sucrose-loading into phloem and transport from source organs (fully-expanded leaves) to sink organs such as roots. H⁺/sucrose co-transport catalyzes the phloem-loading of sucrose and the proton gradient required for this process is generated by an H⁺/ATPase (Bouche-Pillon et al., 1994; Ward et al., 1997). Mg is required for the proper functioning of this enzyme (Bush, 1989; Getz and Klein, 1995) and any alteration in its activity is highly correlated with decreased sucrose export

from source leaves to sink organs such as roots (Zhao et al., 2000). Mg-ATP is one of the important Mg compounds in plant cells and it is used by the H⁺/ATPase enzyme in phloem loading of sucrose (Bush, 1989). Probably, low amount of Mg-ATP in the phloem loading zones is a further reason for the impaired phloem transportation of sucrose in plants.

Accumulation of sugars and starch in leaves is a well-documented phenomenon observed under Mg deficiency, suggesting impaired phloem transport of carbohydrates into roots or other sink organs such as seeds. Alterations in the photoassimilate allocation into sink organs is most likely the main cause of reduced root biomass production and increased shoot-to-root ratio (Cakmak and Kirkby, 2008; Gransee and Führs, 2012).

Potassium is also a highly phloem-mobile element and readily translocated within the plant, thus symptoms of deficiency, typically brown scorching and cholorosis, appear firstly on mature old leaves (Hopkins and Huner, 2009). In agreement with the literature, K deficient plants in all experiments presented in this thesis showed yellowish-brown leaf tips with necrotic spots (Figure 1.1.1, 1.3.1, 2.1).

As expected, K deficiency dramatically reduced shoot and root dry weights of wheat plants (Figure 1.1.2, Table 1.3.1, 2.1). Potassium has diverse of critical cellular functions in plants, as described by Marschner (2012), including protein biosynthesis, photosynthesis, transportation of photoassimilates, increasing disease tolerance and mitigation of abiotic stress factors such drought and salinity. Its deficiency therefore results in significant depressions in growth and development of crop plants. After N, K is taken up by crop plants in the largest amount. Severe reductions in shoot and root dry matter production under low supply of K have been reported in a variety of species including wheat (Hirata et al., 1982) and bean (Cakmak et al., 1994b).

As indicated above, K also has a key role in partitioning of carbohydrates between shoot and root and its functions in this process are similar to those of Mg. K deficient plants also accumulate sucrose in source leaves a consequence of impaired phloem loading (Marschner et al., 1996). This shift in C partitioning restricts root growth and directly related to reduced root dry weight under K deficiency. In well-agreement with the existing literature, water-soluble carbohydrate concentration was increased under K deficiency in the present study (Table 2.6) and was found to be more concentrated in the older source leaves than in the younger sink leaves, indicating an inhibited carbohydrateexport from source to sink. The well-known enhancement in shoot-to-root ratio due to disrupted C allocation to roots has been observed only in the first experiment (Figure 1.1.2). In the third and fourth experiment, the effect of K-level on shoot-to-root ratio was statistically non-significant (Table 1.3.1, 2.1). In these experiments, wheat plants were subjected to K-deficiency stress for a shorter period of time and most probably suffered rather from a milder deficiency. The extent of K deficiency in these plants did not induce any significant changes (i.e. increase) in shoot-to-root ratio.

The third experiment was conducted to monitor changes in growth of the Kdeficient wheat plants over a 72 h K re-supply to deficient plants. 72 hours of K-resupply significantly enhanced shoot dry matter production, however this effect could not be observed in roots, most probably due to selected experimental conditions and severity of the K deficiency stress. Upon K application to deficient plants, 4 different pots from each treatment were harvested every 24 hours. Inconsistent root dry weight data is most likely to be the result of the use of different pots for each harvest.

Potassium is directly involved in photosynthesis due to its role in CO₂ exchange rates and stomatal opening/closing (Huber, 1984) therefore, K deficiency dramatically decreases photosynthesis rate (Bednarz et al., 1998; Hermans et al., 2006). Rapid enhancement of shoot dry weight upon K-resupply is most probably due to high involvement of K in photosynthesis. Increased photosynthesis rates would allow plants to produce more photoassimilates, which eventually add up to shoot biomass.

In order to evaluate the damage exerted on roots by K and Mg deficiency, root morphology parameters were studied under varied deficiency conditions of K and Mg. Previous evidence suggests that root morphology is altered by the absence of K and Mg (Niu et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2008). Both K and Mg deficiency treatments in this study resulted in significant reductions in root length, area, volume, number of root tips and forks (Figure 1.1.4, 1.2.4, 1.3). As discussed above, K and Mg are two key elements that facilitate photosynthate transport between shoot and root. Many authors have pointed out the importance of the assimilate available for root growth (Pearsall, 1923; White, 1937), because maintenance of a high root growth rate depends transportation of carbohydrates from the shoots. Growth process in root or shoots is an energy dependent process and under direct influence of mitochondrial respiration (Marschner, 2012). In relation to reduced root growth, the reductions in the root morphology parameters are a result of impaired C allocation from source leaves.

Number of root tips and forks are good indicators of root hairs and were reduced dramatically under K and Mg deficiency. Root tips of K-deficient plants increased significantly within 24 hours after K-resupply, indicating that root hair formation was very sensitive to K nutrition and promoted if a sufficient K supply is maintained in the growth medium. Root hairs are crucial in terms of nutrient acquisition efficiency, since they facilitate nutrient and water uptake by increasing the interface for absorption. The importance of root hairs on the exploitation of soil nutrients was underlined by previous studies (Claasen and Jungk, 1984). Inhibition of root hair formation, therefore would lead to decreased uptake of nutrients due to less explored soil volume and less access to resources (Cakmak and Kirkby, 2008).

There was an increasing trend in root length, area and number of root forks upon K-resupply, but not in root volume. The reason of this unexpected effect could not be understood. It seems that the most sensitive parameter to K-resupply is the number of root tips and root length. This positive impact of K-resupply is presumably due to increased allocation of assimilates into roots and this suggestion is consistent with the findings reported by Muller et al. (1998), who have shown that carbohydrate availability controls root elongation.

According to Jones et al. (1991), critical deficiency concentrations during early vegetative growth are around 4% for K and 0.1% for Mg. Shoot Mg concentrations were significantly decreased below the critical deficiency threshold by growing the plants under low Mg-(Table 1.2.1). By contrast, plants with adequate Mg supply had sufficiently high Mg in shoots. Similarly, K concentrations of shoots and roots were fairly high at adequate K-level, and were below the critical deficiency threshold under K deficiency treatments (Table 1.1.1, 1.3.2, 2.3). Shoot and root K concentrations of deficient plants increased remarkably upon K-resupply. Only within 24 hours, shoot K concentration increased above critical deficiency threshold and reached sufficient levels. This increment was also observed in roots, but in slower rates. These findings indicate clearly that the plants under low K supply respond very rapidly to re-supply of K and show high root uptake and root-to-shoot transport of K.

The antagonism between K^+ and Mg^{2+} has been widely studied and reported previously (Johnson et al., 1968; Fageria, 1983). High concentrations of K^+ in growth medium inhibit Mg^{2+} uptake from roots as well as its translocation from roots to shoots. In the present study, similar results were observed. Under K-deficiency, Mg uptake per dry weight unit of root was increased by almost 4-fold (Table 2.2) and this promoted root uptake were reflected well in the shoot and root Mg concentrations (Table 1.1.2, 2.3). These results were consistent with previous studies in wheat (Ohno and Grunes, 1985), tomato (Schwartz and Bar-Yosef, 1983) and rice (Ding et al., 2006). Inhibition of Mg uptake is a consequence of the negative effect of K on (i) net Mg²⁺ translocation from roots to shoots (Huang et al.,1990) and (ii) Mg²⁺-transport capacity of root (Moore et al., 1961). Probably, there are channel proteins and Mg transporter proteins on root cell membranes which mediate both K and Mg uptake and transport, and in case of high K concentrations in growth medium a competitive inhibition take places in Mg uptake through high K treatments (Guo et al., 2010; Senbayram et al., 2015).

On the contrary, the effect of Mg on K uptake was found to be less effective (Table 1.2.2), although there was an inverse relationship between tissue K concentration and Mg supply. Similar results have been reported by Ologunde and Sorensen (1982) and Ding et al. (2006) in wheat and rice, respectively. These findings support the evidence that the antagonistic effect of K on Mg was more significant than that of Mg on K.

A varied K nutrition had also effects on root uptake and tissue concentrations of other nutrients. The effect of K on Ca uptake was similar to that on Mg. Highest Ca uptake was observed under severe K starvation and increasing K supply dramatically suppressed Ca uptake by roots (Table 2.2). These results were also consistent with shoot and root Ca concentrations (data not shown). The decrease in Ca uptake by roots is closely associated with the increase in K uptake, indicating that there is a competitive interaction between K and Ca, most likely due to well-known antagonism between the cationic ions during root uptake (Marschner, 2012). Similar results have been also reported in literature (Johnson et al., 1968; Fageria, 1983). By contrast, it was shown that there is a positive interaction of K and P (Dibb and Thompson, 1985). In the present study, increasing K supply promoted P uptake from nutrient solution. Lastly, NO₃⁻ uptake was also affected by K status. Previous evidence suggests that K affects NO3⁻ uptake and translocation directly or indirectly (Blevins et al., 1978; Marschner, 2012). K deficiency significantly reduced NO_3^{-} uptake in the present study. These results are in well-agreement with the findings of Minotti et al. (1969) who have reported impairments in uptake and translocation of NO₃⁻ in the absence K.

Decreased NO_3^- uptake under K deficiency is also supported by the nitrate contents of young wheat plants (Table 2.4). K deficiency significantly reduced NO_3^- content both in old and young leaves. The decrease in NO_3^- content is due to inhibition of NO_3^- uptake and transport (Armengaud et al.,2009; Gajdanowicz et al., 2011). In

addition, NO₃⁻ accumulated mainly in young leaves than in old leaves, indicating that N (as amino acids) is phloem-mobile and readily translocated to growing parts from mature source leaves.

Inhibition of NO_3^- uptake under K deprivation is mainly caused by several reasons and these include (i) reduced root growth and size, (ii) synergistic effect of K⁺ on uptake and translocation and (iii) changes in concentrations of N-containing compounds. As mentioned above, nutrient acquisition capacity of roots greatly depends on root size, since larger root surface area corresponds to greater interface for nutrient uptake in the rhizosphere, therefore, larger roots are capable of absorb more nutrients from the environment. In relation to this, smaller roots grown under K deficiency can take up less NO_3^- than of those grown under adequate K supply.

 K^+ and NO_3^- are two counter-ions, and the root uptake and shoot translocation of these elements greatly depends on their simultaneous presence in growth medium. The synergism of these two ions is also related to their opposite charges which facilitates root uptake. Moreover, root- NO_3^- is translocated to shoot via the xylem, accompanied with K^+ as counter-ion (Coskun et al., 2016). Some studies have shown that K deficiency may result in an increase in the degree of NO_3^- reduction in roots relative to shoots, most probably because NO_3^- cannot be transported in the xylem in the absence of the accompanying cation (Rufty et al., 1981; Förster and Jeschke, 1993; Hu et al., 2016b).

Another aspect that may lead to inhibition of NO₃⁻ uptake is changes in concentrations of the nitrogenous (N)- compounds in K deficient plants. Accumulation of free amino acids in K deficient leaves has been shown in tobacco (Koch and Mengel, 1974), barley (Helal and Mengel, 1979), maize (Hsiao et al., 1970) and cotton (Hu et al., 2016b). Increase in free amino acid content can be a result of (i) K deficiency-related high peptidase and protease activity, indicating protein degradation, (ii) inhibited protein biosynthesis and (ii) low amino acid export in phloem. It is known that K deficiency severely reduces protein synthesis leading to accumulation of amino acids because of less usage of amino acid-to-soluble protein ratio observed in cotton under K deficiency (Hut et al., 2017). In accordance with previous studies, K deficient plants accumulated more amino acid in shoots (Table 2.5) and total N content found to be decreased in low K plants (Table 2.7). These findings indicate that K plays a key role in the distribution of N-compounds and between amino acid and protein. Such changes in amino acid and

protein concentrations may affect regulation of N metabolism and thus depress N assimilation (Wang et al., 2012).

(E) CONCLUSION

Potassium and Mg deficiencies occur commonly in crop plants with severe impacts on growth and yield capacity, especially under environmental stress conditions. Due to their diverse physiological and biochemical functions at cellular level, occurrence of K and Mg deficiencies on agricultural soils affects seriously productivity and also nutrient use efficiency. In this present study, it has been shown that one of the fundamental problems caused by Mg and K deficiencies is the substantial alteration in root morphological parameters. Potassium and Mg deficient plants have failed to develop an efficient root system. Root length, root surface area and number of root tips are most critical root parameters affecting nutrient uptake by roots. These parameters were significantly affected in plants under low supply of K and Mg. Therefore, a reduced nutrient acquisition and nutrient use efficiency can be expected in plants with low K and Mg supply.

It is known that maintenance of an adequate root N uptake depends on the utilization of the root-absorbed N in protein biosynthesis. Protein biosynthesis is very sensitive to low K supply. If the use of absorbed N in protein synthesis is impaired (for example due to K deficiency), this will have a negative feed-back effect on root N uptake, with severe inhibition in N uptake by roots (Marschner, 2012). Therefore, it is of great importance to keep sufficient amounts of K and N-NO₃ in growth medium in order to maintain synergistic uptake between N-NO₃ and K.

Hereby we conclude that ensuring a good K and Mg nutrition is of great importance in terms of both maximizing production as well as the use efficiency of mineral nutrients applied into soils.

(E) REFERENCES

Ali, E., Muhammad, S. (1973). Influence of cations on aluminum toxicity in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* Vill., Host) (Doctoral dissertation).

Amtmann, A., Troufflard, S., Armengaud, P. (2008). The effect of potassium nutrition on pest and disease resistance in plants. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 133(4), 682-691.

Andrist-Rangel, Y., Edwards, A. C., Hillier, S., Öborn, I. (2007). Long-term K dynamics in organic and conventional mixed cropping systems as related to management and soil properties. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 122(4), 413-426.

Armengaud, P., Breitling, R., Amtmann, A. (2004). The potassium-dependent transcriptome of *Arabidopsis* reveals a prominent role of jasmonic acid in nutrient signaling. *Plant physiology*, 136(1), 2556-2576.

Armengaud, P., Sulpice, R., Miller, A. J., Stitt, M., Amtmann, A., Gibon, Y. (2009). Multilevel analysis of primary metabolism provides new insights into the role of potassium nutrition for glycolysis and nitrogen assimilation in *Arabidopsis* roots. *Plant Physiology*, 150(2), 772-785.

Ashley, D. A., Goodson, R. D. (1972). Effect of time and plant K status on 14C-labeled photosynthate movement in cotton. *Crop Science*, 12(5), 686-690.

Baligar, V. C., Bennett, O. L. (1986a). Outlook on fertilizer use efficiency in the tropics. *Fertilizer Research*, 10(1), 83-96.

Baligar, V. C., Bennett, O. L. (1986b). NPK-fertilizer efficiency—a situation analysis for the tropics. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 10(2), 147-164.

Baligar, V. C., Fageria, N. K. (1997). Nutrient use efficiency in acid soils: nutrient management and plant use efficiency. In *IVth international symposium on plant-soil interactions at low pH*.

Baligar, V. C., N. K. Fageria. (1997). Nutrient use efficiency in acid soils: nu- trient management and plant use efficiency pp. 75–93. In: A. C. Monitz, A.M.C. Furlani, N. K. Fageria., C. A. Rosolem, and H. Cantarells. (eds.), *Plant-Soil Interactions at Low pH: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry Production*. Brazilian Soil Science Society Compinas, Brazil.
Baligar, V. C., Duncan, R. R., Fageria, N. K. (1990). Soil-plant interaction on nutrient use-efficiency in plants: an overview.

Baligar, V. C., Fageria, N. K., He, Z. L. (2001). Nutrient use efficiency in plants. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 32(7-8), 921-950.

Barber, S. A. (1995). Soil nutrient bioavailability: a mechanistic approach. John Wiley & Sons.

Bechmann, M., Schneider, C., Carminati, A., Vetterlein, D., Attinger, S., Hildebrandt, A. (2014). Effect of parameter choice in root water uptake models–the arrangement of root hydraulic properties within the root architecture affects dynamics and efficiency of root water uptake. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 18(10), 4189-4206.

Bednarz, C. W., Oosterhuis, D. M., Evans, R. D. (1998). Leaf photosynthesis and carbon isotope discrimination of cotton in response to potassium deficiency. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 39(2), 131-139.

Beevers, L., Hageman, R. H. (1969). Nitrate reduction in higher plants. *Annual Review* of *Plant Physiology*, 20(1), 495-522.

Bennet, R. J., & Breen, C. M. (1993). Aluminium toxicity: Towards an understanding of how plant roots react to the physical environment. In *Genetic aspects of plant mineral nutrition* (pp. 103-116). Springer Netherlands.

Better Crops. (1998). Potassium for Agriculture. Better Crops Vol. 82. No. 3.

Blair, G. (1993). Nutrient efficiency—what do we really mean?. In Genetic aspects of plant mineral nutrition (pp. 205-213). Springer Netherlands.

Blevins, D. G., Barnett, N. M., Frost, W. B. (1978a). Role of potassium and malate in nitrate uptake and translocation by wheat seedlings. *Plant Physiology*, 62(5), 784-788.

Blevins, R. L., Murdock, L. W., Thomas, G. W. (1978b). Effect of lime application on no-tillage and conventionally tilled corn. *Agronomy journal*, 70(2), 322-326.

Bouché-Pillon, S., Fleurat-Lessard, P., Fromont, J. C., Serrano, R., Bonnemain, J. L. (1994). Immunolocalization of the plasma membrane H+-ATPase in minor veins of Vicia faba in relation to phloem loading. *Plant Physiology*, 105(2), 691-697.

Broadley, M. R., Hammond, J. P., King, G. J., Astley, D., Bowen, H. C., Meacham, M. C., Spracklen, W. P. (2008). Shoot calcium and magnesium concentrations differ between subtaxa, are highly heritable, and associate with potentially pleiotropic loci in Brassica oleracea. *Plant Physiology*, 146(4), 1707-1720.

Bush, D. R. (1989). Proton-coupled sucrose transport in plasmalemma vesicles isolated from sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L. cv Great Western) leaves. *Plant Physiology*, 89(4), 1318-1323.

Cakmak, I. (1994). Activity of ascorbate-dependent H2O2-scavenging enzymes and leaf chlorosis are enhanced in magnesium-and potassium-deficient leaves, but not in phosphorus-deficient leaves. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 45(9), 1259-1266.

Cakmak, I. (2005). The role of potassium in alleviating detrimental effects of abiotic stresses in plants. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 168(4), 521-530

Cakmak, I., Kirkby, E. A. (2008). Role of magnesium in carbon partitioning and alleviating photooxidative damage. *Physiologia plantarum*, 133(4), 692-704.

Cakmak, I., Marschner, H. (1992). Magnesium deficiency and high light intensity enhance activities of superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, and glutathione reductase in bean leaves. *Plant physiology*, 98(4), 1222-1227.

Cakmak, I., Yazici, A. M. (2010). Magnesium: a forgotten element in crop production. *Better Crops*, 94(2), 23-25.

Cakmak, I., Hengeler, C., Marschner, H. (1994a). Partitioning of shoot and root dry matter and carbohydrates in bean plants suffering from phosphorus, potassium and magnesium deficiency. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 45(9), 1245-1250.

Cakmak, I., Hengeler, C., Marschner, H. (1994b). Changes in phloem export of sucrose in leaves in response to phosphorus, potassium and magnesium deficiency in bean plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 45(9), 1251-1257.

Cammarano, P., Felsani, A., Gentile, M., Gualerzi, C., Romeo, A., Wolf, G. (1972). Formation of active hybrid 80-S particles from subunits of pea seedlings and mammalian liver ribosomes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis*, 281(4), 625-642.

Cataldo, D. A., Maroon, M., Schrader, L. E., Youngs, V. L. (1975). Rapid colorimetric determination of nitrate in plant tissue by nitration of salicylic acid. *Communications in Soil Science & Plant Analysis*, 6(1), 71-80.

Chen, B. C., Ho, P. C., Juang, K. W. (2013). Alleviation effects of magnesium on copper toxicity and accumulation in grapevine roots evaluated with biotic ligand models. *Ecotoxicology*, 22(1), 174-183.

Claassen, N., Jungk, A. (1984). Effect of K uptake rate, root growth and root hairs on potassium uptake efficiency of several plant species. *Zeitschrift fuer Pflanzenernaehrung und Bodenkunde* (Germany, FR).

Clark, R. B. (1984). Physiological aspects of calcium, magnesium, and molybdenum deficiencies in plants. *Soil acidity and liming, (soilacidityandl)*, 99-170.

Conley, D. J., Paerl, H. W., Howarth, R. W., Boesch, D. F., Seitzinger, S. P., Karl, E., Gene, E. (2009). Controlling eutrophication: nitrogen and phosphorus. *Science*, 123, 1014-1015.

Coque, M., Martin, A., Veyrieras, J. B., Hirel, B., Gallais, A. (2008). Genetic variation for N-remobilization and postsilking N-uptake in a set of maize recombinant inbred lines. 3. QTL detection and coincidences. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 117(5), 729-747.

Coskun, D., Britto, D. T., Kronzucker, H. J. (2016). The nitrogen-potassium intersection: membranes, metabolism, and mechanism. *Plant, cell & environment*.

Darley, C. P., Skiera, L. A., Northrop, F. D., Sanders, D., Davies, J. M. (1998). Tonoplast inorganic pyrophosphatase in Vicia faba guard cells. *Planta*, 206(2), 272-277.

Dibb, D. W., Thompson, W. R. (1985). Interaction of potassium with other nutrients. Potassium in agriculture, (potassiuminagri), 515-533.

Ding, Y., Luo, W., Xu, G. (2006). Characterisation of magnesium nutrition and interaction of magnesium and potassium in rice. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 149(2), 111-123.

Dobermann, A., Cassman, K. G., Mamaril, C. P., Sheehy, J. E. (1998). Management of phosphorus, potassium, and sulfur in intensive, irrigated lowland rice. *Field Crops Research*, 56(1-2), 113-138.

Dong, H., Tang, W., Li, Z., Zhang, D. (2004). On potassium deficiency in cotton– disorder, cause and tissue diagnosis. *Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus*, 69(2-3), 77-85.

Drew, M. C. (1975). Comparison of the effects of a localised supply of phosphate, nitrate, ammonium and potassium on the growth of the seminal root system, and the shoot, in barley. *New Phytologist*, 75(3), 479-490.

Drosdoff, M., Sell, H. M., Gilbert, S. G. (1947). Some effects of potassium deficiency on the nitrogen metabolism and oil synthesis in the tung tree (*Aleurites fordii*). *Plant physiology*, 22(4), 538.

Duncan, R. R. (1994). Genetic manipulation. pp. 1–38. In:. R. E. Wilkinson. (ed.), Plant-Environment Interactions. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, NY.

Ericsson, T., Kähr, M. (1993). Growth and nutrition of birch seedlings in relation to potassium supply rate. *Trees-Structure and Function*, 7(2), 78-85.

Evans, H. J., Wildes, R. A. (1971). Potassium and its role in enzyme activation. In Proc. 8th Colloq. Int. Potash Inst. Bern (pp. 13-39).

Fageria, N. K. (1983). Ionic interactions in rice plants from dilute solutions. *Plant and Soil*, 70(3), 309-316.

Fageria, N. K. (1992). Maximizing crop yields. CRC Press.

Fageria, N. K. (2009). The use of nutrients in crop plants. CRC press.

Fageria, N. K., Baligar, V. C., Jones, C. A. (1997a). Growth and Mineral Nutrition of Field Crops 2nd edition Marcel Dekker. Inc., New York.

Fageria, N. K., Santos, A. B. D., Baligar, V. C. (1997b). Phosphorus soil test calibration for lowland rice on an Inceptisol. *Agronomy Journal*, 89(5), 737-742.

Fitter, A. H. (1988). Water relations of red clover trifolium pratense l. As affected by VA mycorrhizal infection and phosphorus supply before and during drought. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 39(5), 595-603.

Förster, J. C., Jeschke, W. D. (1993). Effects of potassium withdrawal on nitrate transport and on the contribution of the root to nitrate reduction in the whole plant. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 141(3), 322-328.

Foy, C. D. (1984). Physiological effects of hydrogen, aluminum, and manganese toxicities in acid soil. *Soil acidity and liming, (soilacidityandl)*, 57-97.

Gabelman, W. H., Gerloff, G. C. (1983). The search for and interpretation of genetic controls that enhance plant growth under deficiency levels of a macronutrient. *Plant and Soil*, 72(2), 335-350.

Gajdanowicz, P., Michard, E., Sandmann, M., Rocha, M., Corrêa, L. G. G., Ramírez-Aguilar, S. J., Dreyer, I. (2011). Potassium (K+) gradients serve as a mobile energy source in plant vascular tissues. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(2), 864-869.

Galling, G. (1963). Analyse des Magnesium-mangels bei synchronisierten Chlorellen. *Archives of Microbiology*, 46(2), 150-184.

Galloway, J. N., Townsend, A. R., Erisman, J. W., Bekunda, M., Cai, Z., Freney, J. R., Sutton, M. A. (2008). Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recent trends, questions, and potential solutions. *Science*, 320(5878), 889-892.

Gerendás, J., Führs, H. (2013). The significance of magnesium for crop quality. *Plant* and Soil, 368(1-2), 101-128.

Gerhardt, R., Stitt, M., Heldt, H. W. (1987). Subcellular metabolite levels in spinach leaves. *Plant Physiology*, 83(2), 399-407.

Getz, H. P., Klein, M. (1995). Characteristics of sucrose transport and sucrose-induced H+ transport on the tonoplast of red beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) storage tissue. *Plant Physiology*, 107(2), 459-467.

Gibrat, R., Grouzis, J. P., Rigaud, J., Grignon, C. (1990). Potassium Stimulation of Corn Root Plasmalemma ATPase II. H+-Pumping in Native and Reconstituted Vesicles with Purified ATPase. *Plant physiology*, 93(3), 1183-1189. Gransee, A., Führs, H. (2013). Magnesium mobility in soils as a challenge for soil and plant analysis, magnesium fertilization and root uptake under adverse growth conditions. *Plant and Soil*, 368(1-2), 5-21.

Grewal, J. S., Singh, S. N. (1980). Effect of potassium nutrition on frost damage and yield of potato plants on alluvial soils of the Punjab (India). *Plant and Soil*, 57(1), 105-110.

Guo K. M., Babourina O., Christopher D. A., Borsic T., Rengel Z. (2010) The cyclic nucleotide-gated channel AtCNGC10 transports Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ in *Arabidopsis*. *Physiologia Plantarum*. 139: 303-312.

Gupta, A. S., Berkowitz, G. A., Pier, P. A. (1989). Maintenance of photosynthesis at low leaf water potential in wheat role of potassium status and irrigation history. *Plant Physiology*, 89(4), 1358-1365.

Gutschick, V. P. (1993). Nutrient-limited growth rates: roles of nutrient-use efficiency and of adaptations to increase uptake rate. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 44(1), 41-51.

Hagemeyer, J., Breckle, S. W. (1996). Growth under trace element stress (pp. 415-433). New York: Marcel Dekker.

Hannaway, D. B., Bush, L. P., Leggett, J. E. (1982). Mineral composition of Kenhy tall fescue as affected by nutrient solution concentrations of Mg and K. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 5(3), 137-151.

Helal, H. M., Mengel, K. (1979). Nitrogen metabolism of young barley plants as affected by NaCl-salinity and potassium. *Plant and Soil*, 51(4), 457-462.

Hermans, C., Hammond, J. P., White, P. J., Verbruggen, N. (2006). How do plants respond to nutrient shortage by biomass allocation?. *Trends in plant science*, 11(12), 610-617.

Hermans, C., Johnson, G. N., Strasser, R. J., Verbruggen, N. (2004). Physiological characterisation of magnesium deficiency in sugar beet: acclimation to low magnesium differentially affects photosystems I and II. *Planta*, 220(2), 344-355.

Hermans, C., Vuylsteke, M., Coppens, F., Craciun, A., Inzé, D., Verbruggen, N. (2010). Early transcriptomic changes induced by magnesium deficiency in *Arabidopsis thaliana* reveal the alteration of circadian clock gene expression in roots and the triggering of abscisic acid-responsive genes. *New Phytologist*, 187(1), 119-131.

Hirata, H., Hisaka, H., Hirata, A. (1982). Effects of phosphorus and potassium deficiency treatment on roots secretion of wheat and rice seedlings. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 28(4), 543-552.

Hoa, N. M., Janssen, B. H., Oenema, O., Dobermann, A. (2006). Comparison of partial and complete soil K budgets under intensive rice cropping in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 116(1), 121-131.

Hodge, A., Robinson, D., Griffiths, B. S., & Fitter, A. H. (1999). Why plants bother: root proliferation results in increased nitrogen capture from an organic patch when two grasses compete. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 22(7), 811-820.

Hodge, A., Stewart, J., Robinson, D., Griffiths, B. S., Fitter, A. H. (2000). Spatial and physical heterogeneity of N supply from soil does not influence N capture by two grass species. *Functional Ecology*, 14(5), 645-653.

Høgh-Jensen, H., Pedersen, M. B. (2003). Morphological plasticity by crop plants and their potassium use efficiency. *Journal of plant nutrition*, 26(5), 969-984.

Hsiao, T. C., Hageman, R. H., Tyner, E. H. (1970). Effects of potassium nutrition on protein and total free amino acids in *Zea mays. Crop science*, 10(1), 78-82.

Hu, W., Coomer, T. D., Loka, D. A., Oosterhuis, D. M., Zhou, Z. (2017). Potassium deficiency affects the carbon-nitrogen balance in cotton leaves. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 115, 408-417.

Hu, W., Jiang, N., Yang, J., Meng, Y., Wang, Y., Chen, B., Zhou, Z. (2016a). Potassium (K) supply affects K accumulation and photosynthetic physiology in two cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) cultivars with different K sensitivities. *Field Crops Research*, 196, 51-63.

Hu, W., Zhao, W., Yang, J., Oosterhuis, D. M., Loka, D. A., Zhou, Z. (2016b). Relationship between potassium fertilization and nitrogen metabolism in the leaf subtending the cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) boll during the boll development stage. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 101, 113-123.

Huang, J. W., Grunes, D. L., Welch, R. M. (1990). Magnesium, nitrogen form, and root temperature effects on grass tetany potential of wheat forage. *Agronomy journal*, 82(3), 581-587.

Huber, S. C. (1984). Biochemical basis for effects of K-deficiency on assimilate export rate and accumulation of soluble sugars in soybean leaves. *Plant Physiology*, 76(2), 424-430.

Huner, N. P., Hopkins, W. (2009). Introduction to Plant Physiology. John Wiley& Sons, NY, 5(1), 3.

Ivashikina, N. V., Feyziev, Y. M. (1998). Regulation of nitrate uptake in maize seedlings by accompanying cations. *Plant Science*, 131(1), 25-34.

Jia, S., Wang, Z., Li, X., Sun, Y., Zhang, X., Liang, A. (2010). N fertilization effects on soil respiration, microbial biomass and root respiration in Larix gmelinii and *Fraxinus mandshurica* plantations in China. *Plant and Soil*, 333(1-2), 325-336.

Johansen, C., Edwards, D. G., Loneragan, J. F. (1968). Interactions between potassium and calcium in their absorption by intact barley plants. I. Effects of potassium on calcium absorption. *Plant physiology*, 43(10), 1717-1721.

Jones Jr, J. B., Wolf, B., Mills, H. A. (1991). Plant analysis handbook. A practical sampling, preparation, analysis, and interpretation guide. Micro-Macro Publishing, Inc..

Kanai, S., Ohkura, K., Adu-Gyamfi, J. J., Mohapatra, P. K., Nguyen, N. T., Saneoka, H., Fujita, K. (2007). Depression of sink activity precedes the inhibition of biomass production in tomato plants subjected to potassium deficiency stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(11), 2917-2928.

Kayser, M., Isselstein, J. (2005). Potassium cycling and losses in grassland systems: a review. *Grass and Forage Science*, 60(3), 213-224.

Kinraide, T. B., Pedler, J. F., Parker, D. R. (2004). Relative effectiveness of calcium and magnesium in the alleviation of rhizotoxicity in wheat induced by copper, zinc, aluminum, sodium, and low pH. *Plant and Soil*, 259(1), 201-208.

Kobayashi, K., Mochizuki, N., Yoshimura, N., Motohashi, K., Hisabori, T., Masuda, T. (2008). Functional analysis of Arabidopsis thaliana isoforms of the Mg-chelatase CHLI subunit. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 7(10), 1188-1195.

Koch, K., Mengel, K. (1974). The influence of the level of potassium supply to young tobacco plants (*Nicotiana tabacum* L.) on short-term uptake and utilisation of nitrate nitrogen (15N). *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 25(5), 465-471.

Kopittke, P. M., Menzies, N. W., De Jonge, M. D., Mckenna, B. A., Donner, E., Webb, R. I., Scheckel, K. G. (2011). In situ distribution and speciation of toxic copper, nickel, and zinc in hydrated roots of cowpea. *Plant Physiology*, 156(2), 663-673.

Krauss, A. (2003). Assessing soil potassium in view of contemporary crop production. In Regional IPI-LIALUA Workshop on Balanced Fertilization in Contemporary Plant Production (Kaunas-Marijampol, Lithuania, September).

Laing, W., Greer, D., Sun, O., Beets, P., Lowe, A., Payn, T. (2000). Physiological impacts of Mg deficiency in *Pinus radiata*: growth and photosynthesis. *The New Phytologist*, 146(1), 47-57.

Läuchli, A., Pflüger, R. (1978). In Potassium Research-Review and Trends. International Potash Institute, Worblaufen, Bern/Switzerland, 111-163.

Li, W.J., He, P., Jin, J.Y. (2011). Effect of potassium on sugar metabolism in resistant response to corn stalk rot. *Journal Plant Nutrition and Fertilizer Science*. 17, 55e61.

Lock, K., Criel, P., De Schamphelaere, K. A. C., Van Eeckhout, H., Janssen, C. R. (2007). Influence of calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium and pH on copper toxicity to barley (*Hordeum vulgare*). *Ecotoxicology and environmental safety*, 68(2), 299-304.

Luo, X. S., Li, L. Z., Zhou, D. M. (2008). Effect of cations on copper toxicity to wheat root: implications for the biotic ligand model. *Chemosphere*, 73(3), 401-406.

Lynch, J. (1995). Root architecture and plant productivity. *Plant physiology*, 109(1), 7-13.

Lynch, J. P., Brown, K. M. (2001). Topsoil foraging–an architectural adaptation of plants to low phosphorus availability. *Plant and Soil*, 237(2), 225-237.

Marschner, H. (1995). Functions of Mineral Nutrients & Macronutrients.

Marschner, H. (1998). Soil-root interface: Biological and biochemical processes. Soil chemistry and ecosystem health, (soilchemistryan), 191-231.

Marschner, H. (2012). Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants. Vol. 89.

Marschner, H., Cakmak, I. (1989). High light intensity enhances chlorosis and necrosis in leaves of zinc, potassium, and magnesium deficient bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) plants. *Journal of plant physiology*, 134(3), 308-315.

Marschner, H., Kirkby, E. A., Cakmak, I. (1996). Effect of mineral nutritional status on shoot-root partitioning of photoassimilates and cycling of mineral nutrients. *Journal of experimental botany*, 47(Special Issue), 1255-1263.

Masclaux-Daubresse, C., Daniel-Vedele, F., Dechorgnat, J., Chardon, F., Gaufichon, L., Suzuki, A. (2010). Nitrogen uptake, assimilation and remobilization in plants: challenges for sustainable and productive agriculture. *Annals of botany*, 105(7), 1141-1157.

Mengel, K., Viro, M., Hehl, G. (1976). Effect of potassium on uptake and incorporation of ammonium-nitrogen of rice plants. *Plant and Soil*, 44(3), 547-558.

Mengutay, M., Ceylan, Y., Kutman, U. B., Cakmak, I. (2013). Adequate magnesium nutrition mitigates adverse effects of heat stress on maize and wheat. *Plant and soil*, 368(1-2), 57-72.

Minotti, P. L., Williams, D. C., Jackson, W. A. (1968). Nitrate uptake and reduction as affected by calcium and potassium. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 32(5), 692-698.

Moody, P. W., Bell, M. J. (2006). Availability of soil potassium and diagnostic soil tests. *Soil Research*, 44(3), 265-275.

Moore, D. P., Overstreet, R., Jacobson, L. (1961). Uptake of magnesium & its interaction with calcium in excised barley roots. *Plant Physiology*, 36(3), 290.

Muller, B., Stosser, M., Tardieu, F. (1998). Spatial distributions of tissue expansion and cell division rates are related to irradiance and to sugar content in the growing zone of maize roots. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 21(2), 149-158.

Nitsos, R. E., Evans, H. J. (1969). Effects of univalent cations on the activity of particulate starch synthetase. *Plant Physiology*, 44(9), 1260-1266.

Niu, Y., Chai, R., Liu, L., Jin, G., Liu, M., Tang, C., Zhang, Y. (2014). Magnesium availability regulates the development of root hairs in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. *Plant, cell & environment*, 37(12), 2795-2813.

O'neal, D., Joy, K. W. (1974). Glutamine Synthetase of Pea Leaves: Divalent Cation Effects, Substrate Specificity, and Other Properties. *Plant physiology*, 54(5), 773.

Ohno, T., Grunes, D. L. (1985). Potassium-magnesium interactions affecting nutrient uptake by wheat forage. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 49(3), 685-690.

Ologunde, O. O., Sorensen, R. C. (1982). Influence of concentrations of K and Mg in nutrient solutions on sorghum. *Agronomy Journal*, 74(1), 41-46.

Oosterhuis, D. M., Loka, D. A., Raper, T. B. (2013). Potassium and stress alleviation: Physiological functions and management of cotton. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 176(3), 331-343.

Pearsall, W. H. (1923). Studies in growth. IV. Correlations in development. *Annals of Botany*, (2), 261-275.

Peaslee, D. E., Moss, D. N. (1966). Photosynthesis in K-and Mg-deficient maize (*Zea mays* L.) leaves. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 30(2), 220-223.

Peoples, T. R., Koch, D. W. (1979). Role of potassium in carbon dioxide assimilation in *Medicago sativa* L. *Plant physiology*, 63(5), 878-881.

Pettigrew, W. T. (1999). Potassium deficiency increases specific leaf weights and leaf glucose levels in field-grown cotton. *Agronomy Journal*, 91(6), 962-968.

Pfluger, R., Cassier A. (1977). Influence of monovalent cations on photosynthetic CO2 fixation. In Proceedings Colloq. International Potash Institute (Vol. 13, pp. 95-100).

Pier, P. A., Berkowitz, G. A. (1987). Modulation of water stress effects on photosynthesis by altered leaf K+. *Plant physiology*, 85(3), 655-661.

Pierce, J. (1986). Determinants of substrate specificity and the role of metal in the reactions of ribulosebisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase. *Plant physiology*, 81(4), 943-945.

Prabhu, A. S., Fageria, N. K., Huber, D. M., Rodrigues, F. A. (2007). Potassium and plant disease. Datnoff, LE, WH Elmer, and DM Huber: Mineral Nutrition and Plant Disease. The American Phytopathological Soc. Press, Saint Paul, 57-78.

Robinson, D., Hodge, A., Griffiths, B. S., Fitter, A. H. (1999). Plant root proliferation in nitrogen–rich patches confers competitive advantage. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 266(1418), 431-435.

Rufty Jr, T. W., Jackson, W. A., Raper Jr, C. D. (1982). Inhibition of nitrate assimilation in roots in the presence of ammonium: the moderating influence of potassium. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 33(6), 1122-1137.

Rufty, T. W., Jackson, W. A., Raper, C. D. (1981). Nitrate reduction in roots as affected by the presence of potassium and by flux of nitrate through the roots. *Plant Physiology*, 68(3), 605-609.

Ruiz, J. M., Romero, L. (2002). Relationship between potassium fertilisation and nitrate assimilation in leaves and fruits of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) plants. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 140(3), 241-245.

Sadasivam, S. (1996). Biochemical methods. New Age International.

Sánchez-Calderón, L., López-Bucio, J., Chacón-López, A., Cruz-Ramírez, A., Nieto-Jacobo, F., Dubrovsky, J. G., Herrera-Estrella, L. (2005). Phosphate starvation induces a determinate developmental program in the roots of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 46(1), 174-184.

Schwartz, S., Bar-Yosef, B. (1983). Magnesium uptake by tomato plants as affected by Mg and Ca concentration in solution culture and plant age. *Agronomy Journal*, 75(2), 267-272.

Senbayram M., Gransee A., Wahle V., Thiel H. (2015) Role of magnesium fertilisers in agriculture: plant–soil continuum. *Crop and Pasture Science*. Vol.66: 1219-1229

Shaviv, A., Hagin, J., Neumann, P. M. (1987). Effects of a nitrification inhibitor on efficiency of nitrogen utilization by wheat and millet. *Communications in Soil Science & Plant Analysis*, 18(8), 815-833.

Shin, R., Schachtman, D. P. (2004). Hydrogen peroxide mediates plant root cell response to nutrient deprivation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(23), 8827-8832.

Siebrecht, S., Tischner, R. (1999). Changes in the xylem exudate composition of poplar (*Populus tremula* x P. alba)—dependent on the nitrogen and potassium supply. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 50(341), 1797-1806.

Silva, I. R., Smyth, T. J., Israel, D. W., Raper, C. D., Rufty, T. W. (2001). Magnesium ameliorates aluminum rhizotoxicity in soybean by increasing citric acid production and exudation by roots. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 42(5), 546-554.

Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., Scholes, B. (2008). Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 363(1492), 789-813.

Spear, S. N., Edwards, D. G., Asher, C. J. (1978). Response of cassava, sunflower, and maize to potassium concentration in solution III. Interactions between potassium, calcium, and magnesium. *Field Crops Research*, 1, 375-389.

Sreedhara, A., Cowan, J. A. (2002). Structural and catalytic roles for divalent magnesium in nucleic acid biochemistry. *Biometals*, 15(3), 211-223.

Suelter, C. H. (1970). Enzymes activated by monovalent cations. *Science*, 168(3933), 789-795.

Walker, C. J., Weinstein, J. D. (1991). Further Characterization of the Magnesium Chelatase in Isolated Developing Cucumber Chloroplasts Substrate Specificity, Regulation, Intactness, and ATP Requirements. *Plant physiology*, 95(4), 1189-1196.

Wang, N., Hua, H., Eneji, A. E., Li, Z., Duan, L., Tian, X. (2012). Genotypic variations in photosynthetic and physiological adjustment to potassium deficiency in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*). *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 110, 1-8.

Ward, J. M., Kühn, C., Tegeder, M., Frommer, W. B. (1997). Sucrose transport in higher plants. *International Review of Cytology*, 178, 41-71.

Webb, M. J. (2009). A conceptual framework for determining economically optimal fertiliser use in oil palm plantations with factorial fertiliser trials. *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, 83(2), 163-178.

White, H. L. (1937). The Interaction of Factors in the Growth of Lemna: XII. The Interaction of Nitrogen and Light Intensity in Relation to Root Length. *Annals of Botany*, 1(4), 649-654.

White, P. J., Brown, P. H. (2010). Plant nutrition for sustainable development and global health. *Annals of botany*, 105(7), 1073-1080.

White, P. J., Hammond, J. P. (2009). The sources of phosphorus in the waters of Great Britain. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 38(1), 13-26.

Wilkinson, S. R., Grunes, D. L., Sumner, M. E. (2000). Nutrient interactions in soil and plant nutrition. Handbook of soil science, 89-112.

Williams, L., Hall, J. L. (1987). ATPase and Proton Pumping Activities in Cotyledons and other Phloem-Containing Tissues2 Ricinus communis. *Journal of experimental botany*, 38(2), 185-202.

Wingler, A., Roitsch, T. (2008). Metabolic regulation of leaf senescence: interactions of sugar signalling with biotic and abiotic stress responses. *Plant Biology*, 10(s1), 50-62.

Xiao, Q., De Gernier, H., Kupcsik, L., De Pessemier, J., Dittert, K., Fladung, K., Hermans, C. (2016). Natural genetic variation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* root morphological response to magnesium supply. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 66(12), 1249-1258.

Xu, G., Fan, X., Miller, A. J. (2012). Plant nitrogen assimilation and use efficiency. *Annual review of plant biology*, 63, 153-182.

Yang, G. H., Yang, L. T., Jiang, H. X., Li, Y., Wang, P., Chen, L. S. (2012). Physiological impacts of magnesium-deficiency in Citrus seedlings: photosynthesis, antioxidant system and carbohydrates. *Trees*, 26(4), 1237-1250.

Yemm, E. W., Willis, A. J. (1954). The estimation of carbohydrates in plant extracts by anthrone. *Biochemical journal*, 57(3), 508.

Yin, S., Ze, Y., Liu, C., Li, N., Zhou, M., Duan, Y., Hong, F. (2009). Cerium relieves the inhibition of nitrogen metabolism of spinach caused by magnesium deficiency. *Biological trace element research*, 132(1-3), 247-258.

Zhang, Z. Y., Qing-Lian, W. A. N. G., Zhao-Hu, L. I., Liu-Sheng, D. U. A. N., Xiao-Li, T. I. A. N. (2009). Effects of potassium deficiency on root growth of cotton seedlings and its physiological mechanisms. *Acta Agronomica Sinica*, 35(4), 718-723.

Zhao, D., Oosterhuis, D. M., Bednarz, C. W. (2001). Influence of potassium deficiency on photosynthesis, chlorophyll content, and chloroplast ultrastructure of cotton plants. *Photosynthetica*, 39(1), 103-109.

Zhao, R., Dielen, V., Kinet, J. M., Boutry, M. (2000). Cosuppression of a plasma membrane H+-ATPase isoform impairs sucrose translocation, stomatal opening, plant growth, and male fertility. *The Plant Cell*, 12(4), 535-546.